The relationships between perceived competence, goal orientation and mind sets on the motivation to participate in sport at university.

Written by

Marcus Craig Nel

Supervised by

Gary Steele

Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters by Thesis in Psychology

Rhodes University

28 February 2017

Declaration

The above serves as a declaration that the work produced in this document has been produced for the sole purpose of this Psychology Masters by Research project. The work is mine in its entirety and has not been plagiarised or submitted to any other higher education institution.

Abstract

The research sought to uncover the links that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with the motivation to participate in sports. The research was conducted in a South African university context and was comprised of 212 participants. Data was collected through the use of Sports Motivation Scale 6, Intrinsic Motivation Inventory: Perceived Competence Subscale, Task and Ego Orientation in Sport Questionnaire and the Self-Theory Questionnaire. The participants completed the questionnaires using a pen and paper technique at their various sports practices. Data was collected and analysed using Pearson's correlation coefficient in order to demonstrate the strength and nature of the relationships that existed between the variables. Findings generally supported previous findings. Using a deductive approach, the main findings found that various types of motivation based on Self-Determination Theory demonstrated a proportional relationship with task orientation and little to no relationship was found between motivation and ego orientation. The relationships between motivation and perceived competence were mixed, with the most significant relationship occurring between integrated regulation and perceived competence. Fixed mind sets also showed little to no relationship with motivation, whereas growth mind sets showed proportional relationships with the various kinds of motivation. Further relationships between these variables were also explained. It is recommended that data collection techniques are improved in future research. This research may be useful in indicating what factors are related to motivation to play sport at university.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Mr. Gary Steele for his constructive suggestions and support throughout the process of the development of this research project. His willingness to give of his effort and time is much appreciated. In addition, his support during my transition and his adaptability to this is greatly appreciated.

I would also like to thank the rest of the departmental staff that I have been involved with throughout the year that have given me insight into potential theories and knowledge that have assisted in completing this project. The support staff cannot go unmentioned as they were always understanding and helpful.

To my family and friends whose support and encouragement throughout my study and transitions has been unwavering, thank you.

Table of Contents

<u>Chapter</u>		Pages
CHAPTER 1 INTRO	DUCTION	1-7
1.1 Introduction		1-2
1.2 Research	Problem and Research Questions	3
1.2.1	Research question	3
	1.2.1.1 Sub questions	3-4
1.3 Key Word	ds and Defintions	4
1.3.1	Motivation	4
	1.3.1.1 Intrinsic motivation	4
	1.3.1.2 Extrinsic motivation	4
	1.3.1.3 Self-Determination Theory	4
1.3.2	Perceived competence	5
1.3.3	Achievement goal orientation	5
	1.3.3.1 Task orientation	5
	1.3.3.2 Ego orientation	5
1.3.4	Orthogonality	6
1.3.5	Mind sets	6
	1.3.5.1 Fixed/entity mind set	6
	1.3.5.2 Growth/incremental mind set	6
1.4 Chapter C	Overviews	6
1.4.1	Introduction	6
1.4.2	Literature Review	6-7
1.4.3	Methodology	7
1.4.4	Results and Data Analysis	7
1.4.5	Discussion of Findings	7
1.4.6	Closing Thoughts	7-8
CHAPTER 2 LITER	ATURE REVIEW	9-33
2.1 Introducti	on	9-11
2.2 Motivation: SDT		11-13
2.2.1 Amotivation		13-14

	2.2.2 Extrinsic motivation	14-16
	2.2.3 Intrinsic motivation	16-18
	2.3 Perceived Competence	18-19
	2.3.1 Sources of competence	19-20
	2.3.2 Evidence	20-21
	2.4 Achievement Goal Theory	21-22
	2.4.1 Ego orientation	22
	2.4.2 Task orientation	23
	2.4.3 Myths based on goal orientations	23
	2.4.4 Goal orientations and level of competition	24
	2.4.5 Goal orientations and gender	24
	2.4.6 Differences between task and ego orientation	24
	2.4.7 Evidence	24-26
	2.5 Mind sets	26
	2.5.1 Fixed mind sets	27
	2.5.2 Growth mind sets	27
	2.5.3 Differences between fixed mind sets and growth mind sets	28
	2.5.4 Evidence	28-29
	2.6 Theoretical Interrelatedness: Empirical Evidence	29-32
	2.7 Conclusion	32-33
CHAF	CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY	
	3.1 Introduction	34
	3.1.1 Research question	34-35
	3.2 Research Design	35-37
	3.3 Sampling	37-39
	3.4 Methods of Data Collection	39-42
	3.4.1 Demographics	42
	3.4.2 SMS-6	42-43
	3.4.3 Perceived Competence sub-scale of IMI	44-45
	3.4.4 TEOSQ	45-46
	3.4.5 Self-Theory Questionnaire	46-47
	3.5 Pilot Study	47-48
	3.6 Data Analysis	48

3.6.1 Descriptive statistics	48-49	
3.6.2 Inferential statistics	49-50	
3.7 Ethics	50-51	
3.8 Limitations of Methodology	51-53	
3.9 Conclusion	53-54	
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DATA ANAYLYSIS	55-68	
4.1 Introduction	55	
4.2 Description of Sample	55-59	
4.3 Inferential Statistics/Correlations	59-61	
4.4 Motivation and Perceived Competence, Goal Orientations and		
Mind sets	61-62	
4.4.1 Motivation	62	
4.4.1.1 External regulation	62	
4.4.1.2 Introjected regulation	63	
4.4.1.3 Identified regulation	63	
4.4.1.4 Integrated regulation	64	
4.4.1.5 Intrinsic motivation	64	
4.4.1.6 Summary	65	
4.5 Perceived Competence, Goal Orientations and Mindsets	65	
4.5.1 Goal orientations	65	
4.5.1.1 Task orientation	65-66	
4.5.1.2 Ego orientation	66	
4.5.2 Perceived competence	66	
4.5.3 Mind sets	66-67	
4.6 Conclusion	67-68	
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS	69-86	
5.1 Introduction	69-70	
5.2 Relationships with motivation	70-71	
5.2.1 Motivation and perceived competence		
5.2.2 Motivation and goal orientations	73	
5.2.2.1 Motivation and task orientation	74	

5.2.2.2 Motivation and ego orientation	75-76
5.2.3 Motivation and mind sets	76-77
5.2.3.1 Motivation and growth mind sets	77-79
5.2.3.2 Motivation and fixed mind sets	79-80
5.3 Conceptual Interrelatedness: The Discussion	81
5.3.1 Perceived competence and goal orientations	81-82
5.3.2 Perceived competence and mind sets	82-83
5.3.3 Goal orientations and mind sets	83-84
5.4 Summary	
CHAPTER 6 CLOSING THOUGHTS	87-91
6.1 Introduction	87-89
6.2 Limitations and Successes	89
6.2.1 Successes	89
6.2.2 Limitations	89-90
6.2.3 Recommendations	90-91
CHAPTER 7 REFERENCE LIST	92-99
CHAPTER 8 APPENDICES	100-109
8.1 Appendix A	100-101
8.2 Appendix B	
8.3 Appendix C	109

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

Much research has been conducted with concern to perceived competence, mind sets, goal orientations and motivation, in particular using the Self-Determination Theory (SDT) as the main theoretical framework (Elliot & Dweck, 2005; McManus, 2004; Milavić, Guć, & Miletić, 2010; Pelletier et al., 1995; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Ryan, 1995). However, this increase in research has only occurred in the last two decades and therefore has led to scarcity of resources that have been used previously as opposed to a dense collection that have been completed in the last five to ten years (Potgieter, 2011; Wilson, Mack, & Grattan, 2008). It should be noted however, that prior research has been conducted primarily between motivation and one of the other variables above. The current research will look to develop on the findings of fellow researchers and contribute to the existing body of knowledge whilst simultaneously generating new information. The generation of new information will primarily be targeted at the South African University sport context. Due to sport psychology being such a young field, it has not had the same amount of growth and development in South Africa as has been experienced in Western Europe and North America (Wang & Biddle, 2003). Potgieter and Steyn (2010) state that there is insufficient research and evidence in this area and context to corroborate findings effectively with other studies and therefore additional research must be conducted.

Apart from this, it has also been indicated that within the South African context, only one in four people participate in sports (Department of Sport and Recreation, 2005). It was also noted by the Department of Sport and Recreation (2005) that as individuals get older, participation in sport decreases substantially. This research is therefore relevant to the current context as it may also give an indication of what factors interact with the motivation to participate in sport at the university level. This research has been documented less than at adolescent and childhood stages.

The above research has been selected, not only because of previous research that has been conducted, but also due to the relationships that have been empirically proven to exist between these factors. These findings have consistently shown that there are relationships between goal orientations, perceived sport competence and motivation (Georgiadis, Biddle, & Chatzisarantis, 2001). Biddle, Wang, Chatzisarantis and Spray (2003) indicated that enjoyment and motivation to participate in sport are directly/indirectly related to goal orientations and

perceived competence. Papaioannou, Bebetsos, Theodorakis, Christodoulidis and Kouli, (2006), state that perceived sport competence, goal orientation and motivation are key factors in determining factors such as continuous sport participation. This serves as the basis for this dissertation as a minor indicator of the fact that research has been conducted on these variables as different combinations, but not as a collective. These factors have been selected as a collective as they have all been shown to relate to the main theoretical framework of SDT as well as amongst one another. It is simple to deduct conceptual associations between these concepts, but this is insufficient, and therefore empirical relationships should be made to refute or concur with previous findings.

A brief synopsis will be given as an indication of how these variables relate to SDT. Competence has the most obvious relationship with motivation and SDT. This relationship is apparent, not only through research that has been conducted, but also due to the fact that competence is one of the basic needs that an individual must fulfil in order to realise selfdetermination through motivation (Mouratidis, Vansteenkiste, Lens, Sideridis, & others, 2008). Much research has indicated that apart from relationships with motivation, perceived competence also has associations with the goal orientations that people follow (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Ntoumanis, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 1989; Wang & Biddle, 2003). Goal orientations have been thought to exist as a dichotomy, when in fact much research has shown them to be orthogonal (Kavussanu & Harnisch, 2000; Ntoumanis, 2001). Due to the orthogonality of this construct, research has indicated that generally, task orientations have been found to correlate with intrinsic motivation and ego orientations correlate with extrinsic motivation (Biddle, et al., 2003; Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter, 2011). This concept has also been linked to the different mind sets that exist by Potgieter and Steyn (2010) and Potgieter (2011), therefore this relationship will be investigated further. Another purpose of the research will be to investigate what relationships exist between mind sets and perceived competence. Literature indicates that there are possible associations that may exist between these variables. Mind sets may indicate a relationship with motivation (Dweck, 2007). This concept exhibits many characteristics that are inherent for motivation to exist such as a desire to develop and be resilient (Dweck, 2007). Dweck (2007) also stated that certain inclinations to certain mind sets will foster certain types of motivation. An example of this is how people with growth mind sets have been seen to demonstrate more intrinsic forms of motivation (Dweck, 2007). This is therefore the line of enquiry that this research will follow.

1.2 Research Problem and Research Questions

This research was conducted to explore relationships between all of these variables (motivation, perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets). The research was also conducted as there is limited research that has been conducted overall and more specifically in the South African context (Wang & Biddle, 2003). This is further purported as there is even less research that has been conducted on these factors within the university context. In addition, it was reported by the Department of Sport and Recreation (2005) that once individuals leave school and sport participation is on a completely voluntary basis, levels of attrition increase exponentially (Georgiadis et al., 2001; Hagger & Chatzisarantis, 2009; Standage, Duda, & Ntoumanis, 2003; Wilson et al., 2008). This research was conducted in an attempt to contribute in a meaningful way to decrease the rate of attrition. The research also attempted to give coaches insight as to what factors they need to develop and harness to enhance players' performance and ensure continued participation. Therefore, the aim of this study was to indicate the type of correlations and relationships that exist between these variables, whilst indicating how perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets relate to peoples' decisions and motivations to play sport.

1.2.1 Research question.

• What are the relationships between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets and motivation to participate in sports at university, if any exist at all?

1.2.1.1 Sub questions.

- Is there a relationship between competence and motivation to participate in sports?
- Is there a relationship between goal orientations and motivation to participate in sports?
- Is there a relationship between mind sets and motivation to participate in sports?
- Is there a relationship between perceived competence and goal orientations?
- Is there a relationship between perceived competence and mind sets?
- Is there a relationship between goal orientations and mind sets?

The questions above have been selected in order to gain some insight into the broader question by breaking them down into sub questions. The questions were selected specifically in order to address the respective variables in a manner that was appropriate to previous findings as well as the research goals of this dissertation.

1.3 Key Words and Definitions

There was a vast amount of key words that were used throughout the current research project and it will therefore be invaluable to provide a brief understanding of these terms before the onset of the investigation. In addition to the brief definitions that will be given, some abbreviations will be noted for the constructs where possible. The definitions will be kept brief and elaborated upon further in the literature review chapter.

1.3.1 Motivation.

Weinberg and Gould (2011, 2014) state that motivation refers to the direction and intensity of performed effort by an individual.

1.3.1.1 Intrinsic motivation.

Intrinsic motivation is defined as an internal desire to complete a task without the presence of a separable consequence, people are rather driven by the inherent pleasure that is gained from doing the task (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999).

1.3.1.2 Extrinsic motivation.

Contrary to intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation which involves a person being driven by a separable reward received upon completion of a task which may be tangible or social (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999).

1.3.1.3 Self-Determination Theory (SDT).

Ryan and Deci (2000, p.55) state that Self-Determination Theory distinguishes "between different types of motivation based on the different reasons or goals that give rise to an action". In order for individuals to be self-determined, they need to fulfil the basic needs of competence, autonomy and relatedness (Deci & Ryan, 1985a; Gagné, 2009; Hagger, Chatzisarantis, Culverhouse, & Biddle, 2003; Pelletier, Rocchi, Vallerand, Deci, & Ryan, 2013; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). These factors may be satisfied to varying extents and therefore levels of self-determination may be quantified along a continuum ranging from intrinsic motivation to amotivation with various sub-categories within these broader categories.

1.3.2 Perceived competence.

Competence as defined by Elliot and Dweck (2005) refers to the quality of effectiveness demonstrated by an individual. Therefore perceived competence indicates the manner in which an individual experiences this quality of effectiveness.

1.3.3 Achievement goal orientations.

Goal orientation refers to the subjective inclinations of individuals in relation to a specific activity and are generally consistent with their belief regarding success (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Duda, 1998). It refers to how an individual appraises an achievement situation (McManus, 2004). Goal orientations are split into two sub-categories with reference to the inclination experienced by the individual towards achievement (Duda, 1998; Duda & Nicholls, 1992). These sub-categories are orthogonal in nature independently (Milavić et al., 2010). This means that there can be more or less of one, in combination with the other, they do not necessarily exist independently (Milavić et al., 2010).

1.3.3.1 Task orientation.

This orientation refers to situations where the athlete's focus is more on learning and improvement (Duda, 1998; Milavić et al., 2010; Williams, 1994). Actions are considered to be task involving (Duda, 1998; Milavić et al., 2010; Williams, 1994). People who thrive in these environments are thought to be task orientated (Duda, 1998; Milavić et al., 2010; Williams, 1994). Task orientation therefore involves the desire to attain a goal and develop competence in a certain aspect of a task (Elliot & Dweck, 2005; Williams, 1994). These situations are considered to utilise self-referenced norms (Standage & Treasure, 2002).

1.3.3.2 Ego orientation.

Environments that are characterised by inter-personal competition, public evaluation or normative standards are considered to be ego involving and people who thrive in these situations are thought to be ego orientated (Duda, 1998; Elliot & Dweck, 2005; McManus, 2004; Milavić et al., 2010; Williams, 1994). When an individual is ego orientated, it is believed that they utilise social norms as cues for behaviour and comparison (Standage & Treasure, 2002).

1.3.4 Orthogonality.

This term refers to the fact that features of a concept do not exist independently and rather coexist and may exist in this manner with more or less of one of the factors (Milavić et al., 2010).

1.3.5 Mind sets.

Mind sets are based on implicit theories of self and provide the theoretical association for the entity and incremental perspectives of knowledge (Dweck, 2013). They refer to the ways in which people understand characteristics such as intelligence and abilities, and these are either seen as fixed or changeable and are commonplace in activities of daily living without individuals realising their existence (Dweck, 2013; Priester & Petty, 2016).

1.3.5.1 Fixed/entity mind set.

Individuals who possess fixed mind sets are of the belief that the set of characteristics that were obtained at birth are likely to remain as such without any change and often remain loyal to these characteristics despite changing contexts (Dweck, 2013; Priester & Petty, 2016).

1.3.5.2 Growth/incremental mind set.

Individuals who possess growth mind sets believe that the characteristics obtained at birth are changeable and may be improved. This may occur over time in the hope of improving and potentially attaining a certain goal (Dweck, 2010, 2013; Priester & Petty, 2016).

1.4 Chapter Overviews

1.4.1 Introduction.

This chapter covers a brief overview of the entire study, it looks to do this by familiarising the reader with the common terms that will be used throughout the dissertation. This chapter sets the scene for the research as it looks to explain further the objectives and significance of the research. It builds on title in stating a broad research question that will be answered through the research. In addition to this sub-questions to this were developed which will all be answered in the results and discussion chapter.

1.4.2 Literature review.

In chapter 2 SDT will be explained in more depth, as this is the theoretical framework that will be utilised for this study. SDT will then be related to the variables that were measured. The

concept of perceived competence will be explained and related to the theoretical framework. Achievement goal theory will then be discussed and related to the main theoretical framework. This will be done by explaining task goal orientation and ego goal orientations, as well as indicating the similarities and differences between these two sub categories. Mind sets will be further described and discussed in relation to SDT. A distinction will be made between the two sub categories of fixed and growth mind sets. Where possible, for all the variables, examples of prior research will be explicated to indicate how they may relate to the current research that was conducted.

1.4.3 Methodology.

The methodology found in chapter 3 will clearly outline the methods used for this research. It attempt to do so in a manner that could be replicable in future due to the fact that there is limited research in this area and even less within the South African context. A pilot study that was conducted will be elaborated on. The quantitative nature of investigation will be explained, along with the research design utilised. Sampling techniques will be explained as well as procedures for data collection and analysis. At this stage, ethics will be strictly adhered to and this will be explained thoroughly. Any difficulties experienced at this stage will be clarified in chapter 6 on the limitations of the study.

1.4.4 Results and data analysis.

This chapter will present the results that were obtained during the analysis procedures. The procedures during analysis will be explained in depth, to indicate how they were relevant to the data that was collected and how they will answer the research questions.

1.4.5 Discussion of findings.

Chapter 5 will explain the findings in further depth whilst relating them to previous findings. This chapter will outline the associations between the four variables and illustrate the strengths of these relationships.

1.4.6 Closing thoughts.

The closing chapter will give a summary of the research as a whole, including the findings and contributions. This chapter will also attend to possible limitations that were experienced in this research. It will further suggest future recommendations and give directions to potential

research as well as research in the field of sports psychology. It will also include any final, closing thoughts.

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

This chapter will explain the various theories that have been selected for this research in order to give a better understanding of how they fit together and the potential relationships that this research looks to uncover. It will serve to discuss previous findings based on these theories. The research will also seek to contribute to the existing body of knowledge in a meaningful manner, as the relationships between all four variables has not been investigated previously (Elliot & Dweck, 2005; McManus, 2004; Milavić, et al., 2010; Pelletier et al., 1995; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). Much of the research that has been conducted has spanned over the last three decades (Biddle, et al., 2003; Papaioannou, et al., 2006; Potgieter, 2011). There is limited recent research regarding the relationships which exists between the four concepts of perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with motivation to participate in sport during university. This research will look to contribute to the existing body of knowledge (Potgieter, 2011). It should be noted that due to the paucity of research in this field, dated resources have been utilised, but these have been used in combination with more recent research in order to contextualise the research and complement one another. The relative importance of this study is apparent in order to further advance the body of knowledge. By doing this, the study might progress the understanding of motivation, perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets within a present-day university context.

The relevance of the literature lies in the fact that there has been evidence prior to this research, despite it being sparce, that indicates relationships between motivation, perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets individually (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; McManus, 2004; Milavić et al., 2010; Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Standage et al., 2003; Standage & Treasure, 2002; Thøgersen-Ntoumani & Ntoumanis, 2007; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Williams, 1994). No evidence could be found to illustrate the relationships that exist between these concepts simultaneously. However, research undertaken by Wang and Biddle (2003) investigated the links that exist between perceived competence, mind sets, goal orientations and intrinsic motivation on Singaporean university students. The current research differs in how it uses the self-determination continuum to explore relationships between all four concepts as opposed to the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI) to link the concepts to motivation as well as variations in other measurement instruments that were used.

In addition, this research was conducted in a South African university context as opposed to a Singaporean University context.

Therefore, from the review of literature, there is an indication that the current research may uncover relationships between ego orientations, fixed mind sets, extrinsic motivation and possibly lower levels perceived competence (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; McManus, 2004; Milavić et al., 2010; Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Standage et al., 2003; Standage & Treasure, 2002; Thøgersen-Ntoumani & Ntoumanis, 2007; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Williams, 1994). It is also expected that relationships will be indicated between task orientations, growth mind sets, intrinsic motivation and higher levels of perceived competence which are polar concepts to those mentioned prior (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; McManus, 2004; Milavić et al., 2010; Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Standage et al., 2003; Standage & Treasure, 2002; Thøgersen-Ntoumani & Ntoumanis, 2007; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Williams, 1994). As mentioned previously, these factors have also been found to be important predictors in achievement behaviours such as continuous sport participation which this study will look to investigate (Papaioannou et al., 2006).

It is apparent, that apart from the lack of research that has been conducted in the South African context, the research that has been done indicates concerning figures of attrition in sport as individuals grow older (Department of Sport and Recreation, 2005). This attrition could be due to a number of factors that include access to facilities and resources, distances to facilities, finances, gender, race, parenting style or even coaching style (Department of Sport and Recreation, 2005). Due to this the survey conducted found that only one in four South Africans participate in sport (Department of Sport and Recreation, 2005). It is made apparent in the 2005 survey that sport participation is emphasised in schools, but there is no emphasis beyond this in tertiary institutions (Department of Sport and Recreation, 2005). The Department of Sport and Recreation (2005) define sport as a physical activity that is engaged in for competition in a structured or unstructured setting, but also for enjoyment, health related reasons, physical wellbeing or growth and development which may occur emotionally, psychologically or physically. This definition is valuable as it allows this research to focus on a particular sample that may be characterised by the above features.

Some of the concerning facts have been posited by the Department of Sport and Recreation (2005) mentioned above, which have contributed to why this research should be conducted in

a South African context. It would then be useful to see if the results of this study may be used in the future to decrease attrition and increase participation. Therefore, despite there being a variety of factors that could possibly influence university students' motivation to participate in sports, it will be interesting to note whether perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets all interact with this. It will be of particular interest to note whether the results that are found in this research are the same or are similar to those that have been found in the sparse past research.

2.2 Motivation: Self-Determination Theory

As defined by Weinberg and Gould (2011, 2014), motivation broadly refers to the direction and intensity of effort performed by an individual, but quite simply refers to the 'why' of an action (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). This definition has been selected as it outlines the concept in a manner that is consistent with the SDT which will be utilised as the main theoretical framework. SDT distinguishes between different types of motivation based on the reasons that result in certain actions, completing the taxonomy of human motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Ntoumanis (2001) states that SDT refers to a life-long process whereby an individual endeavours to integrate new and interesting aspects into their lives through the satisfaction of the three basic psychological needs (autonomy, relatedness and competence). The satisfaction of these three basic psychological needs will lead to optimal motivation (Mouratidis, et al., 2008). The various types of motivation that are present in this taxonomy may also be known as self-regulations (Standage et al., 2003). They regulate the behaviour presented by individuals as well as the type of motivation presented (Standage et al., 2003).

The taxonomy of human motivation is comprised of various sub-categories of motivation that are further compartmentalised into intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation and amotivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). These compartments of motivation are viewed along a continuum that ranges from amotivation which is the least self-determined form of motivation to the different types of intrinsic motivation which are the most self-determined forms of motivation (Pelletier et al., 2013; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Apart from differing types of motivation, motivation may also exist in differing amounts (Ryan & Deci, 2000). It is therefore important not to view motivation as a unitary concept, but rather as multi-dimensional in nature (Ntoumanis, 2001; Ryan, 1995; Standage et al., 2003). The type and amount of motivation that an athlete experiences will have a large effect on the types of experiences that athletes encounter during their sport (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Despite this, motivation remains fairly constant and may be influenced by extraneous variables related to the university context, personality or even activity completed by the individual (Bong, 2004; Struthers, Perry, & Menec, 2000).

There are many reasons why individuals participate in sport. These may include reasons that are aligned with personal beliefs such as interest and enjoyment or separable reward such as a prize and public acknowledgement (Ryan & Deci, 2000). These will be described in further depth when the different types of motivation are discussed. In addition to these reasons for participation, it should be noted that motivation is also comprised of certain components. These components include the expectancy component refers to self-efficacy of an individual to complete a task (Bruinsma, 2004). The value component refers to the interest and value that an individual places on a task (Bruinsma, 2004). The affect component refers to the students' emotional responses to the task (Bruinsma, 2004). These concepts and how they relate to tasks are of interest. In addition, similarities may be drawn between these components and the various aspects of SDT such as competence, intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation respectively.

Motivation may be considered to be the potential that an individual possesses, whichever way they are inclined to achievement. However, in order for this potential be to fully realised, there are basic psychological needs that need to be fulfilled (Gagné, 2009; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The basic psychological needs that should be satisfied in order to be self-determined include the needs for autonomy, competence and relatedness (Gagné, 2009; Hagger et al., 2003; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The basic need for autonomy refers to the ability of a person to be able to carry out certain tasks independently with free choice (Gagné, 2009; Hagger et al., 2003; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Relatedness refers to inter-personal relationships with important others, whom act as a support system (Gagné, 2009; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The final basic psychological need that should be satisfied to enhance self-determination is the need for competence. Competence refers to how individuals understand certain internal and external events and how they occur (Gagné, 2009; Vallerand & Losier, 1999).

These basic psychological needs ensure that individuals realise their potential and allow for people to develop (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). These basic psychological needs, when they are perceived to be satisfied, often aid in facilitating motivation and represent psychological mediators for social events that an individual experiences (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Contrary

to this, events which affect individuals' perceptions of their basic psychological needs negatively will undermine motivation (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). In addition to this, it should be noted that these perceptions may be altered by factors such as feelings of pressure to do an activity due to an external locus of causality (Deci & Ryan, 1985b). It is apparent that the discussion is moving from a broader discussion of motivation as a whole, into varying types of motivation that exist and inform SDT. As previously mentioned, these varying types of motivation may be quantified along a continuum that ranges from the least self-determined form of motivation (amotivation) to the most self-determined form of motivation (intrinsic motivation). These different forms of motivation are also described as self-regulations as they determine the manner in which individuals interact with various activities based on how individuals attribute reasons for activities to themselves (Standage et al., 2003). These self-regulations/ different types of motivation form part of the SDT emphasising the multi-dimensional nature of the theory, but also consist of their own sub-categories indicating their own multi-dimensional nature.

2.2.1 Amotivation.

Amotivation will be discussed as the first type of motivation as it is the least self-determined form of motivation (Ntoumanis, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vlachopoulos, Karageorghis, & Terry, 2000). Throughout the literature review, a gradual progression will occur explaining the various types of motivation that exist along the continuum. Motivation will be conceptualised from the least self-determined forms of motivation to the most self-determined forms of motivation. The multi-dimensional nature of motivation will become more apparent as it is not a simple unidimensional relationship between amotivation and motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Rather, the various sub-categories of the different forms of motivation will be established and elaborated upon.

Amotivation refers to the absence of motivation and vision (Pelletier et al., 1995; Pelletier et al., 2001; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Amotivation may also include situations where individuals feel incompetent, do not place value on a task or simply lack intentionality often resulting in a feeling of helplessness (Ryan & Deci, 2000). This therefore indicates that there could be a potential relationship between motivation and perceived competence. By definition, this relationship could exist between amotivation and low levels of perceived competence and vice versa which will be elaborated upon below. It is therefore an area of interest to illustrate how these variables are potentially interact with one another.

It can sometimes be problematic defining amotivation as a type of motivation, simply due to the fact that it represents a complete lack of motivation meaning that there is actually no motivation present within the individual to complete the given task (Faye & Sharpe, 2008; Köseoglu, 2013). An example of amotivation may be a scenario where player may begin to doubt whether practice will actually help in attaining their goals and whether or not it will improve their performance.

2.2.2 Extrinsic motivation.

Extrinsic motivation is the next category of motivation that will be explored as it exists next to amotivation on the continuum along with its sub-categories of motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). In many instances, extrinsic motivation is seen as being opposite to intrinsic motivation and existing at the opposite end of the continuum (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The behaviours associated with extrinsic motivation may be seen as contrary to intrinsic motivation, as there are distinct differences between intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation when considered as such (Pelletier et al., 1995). Extrinsic motivation itself is multi-dimensional and exists as part of the continuum with varying levels of self-determined motivation, much the same as intrinsic motivation. The fact that there are various levels of extrinsic motivation indicates that individuals often engage in activities out of their free will, but do not necessarily enjoy it (Vlachopoulos et al., 2000).

Extrinsic motivation may simply be defined as the drives that a person experiences in relation to a social or tangible, separable reward to be received upon completion of a task (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Extrinsic motivation does not govern behaviour by internal desires or feelings, rather by the possibility of threats, rewards or embarrassment (Standage et al., 2003). Individuals who are extrinsically motivated are only motivated by the end result of a task or activity, they do not find anything else about the task or activity inherently enjoyable or interesting (Ntoumanis, 2001). Extrinsic motivation, for many years was considered to only be established through external events or rewards (Pelletier et al., 1995). It has now been defined by varying levels of extrinsic motivation with the subcategories comprising of their own amounts of internalisation (Pelletier et al., 1995).

Extrinsic motivation may be further divided into four sub-categories (Mallett, Kawabata, Newcombe, Otero-Forero, & Jackson, 2007a; Mallett, Kawabata, & Newcombe, 2007b; Ntoumanis, 2001; Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Standage et al., 2003; Vallerand & Losier, 1999; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). The first of these sub-categories is external

regulation. External regulation refers to behaviour carried out for the achievement of prizes such as winning a trophy for sporting prowess or in order to avoid punishment or embarrassment (Inoue, Wegner, Jordan, & Funk, 2015; Pelletier et al., 1995; Pelletier, Fortier, Vallerand, & Briere, 2001; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). This behaviour is completely controlled by external contingency and is the least self-determined form of motivation and epitomises the traditional dichotomy of extrinsic motivation versus intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Standage et al., 2003; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). An example of external regulation may be winning a prize purely for recognition, when the activity holds no value at all to the individual.

The second type of extrinsic motivation is introjected regulation. Introjection refers to the internalization of driving forces that the individual experiences (Pelletier et al., 1995, 2001). An example of this is, internalizing an external motivation such as feeling pride for correctly completing a task within the sporting environment or to avoid feelings of guilt due to external forces (Inoue et al., 2015; Ntoumanis, 2001; Pelletier et al., 1995, 2001; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Introjection indicates incomplete internalisation by individuals (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Ryan and Deci (2000) indicate that introjection has strong ties to ego involvement due to individuals desire to avoid embarrassment and enhance self-esteem. An example of introjected regulation may be participating for a team so as not to disappoint friends due to a sense of guilt. These two forms of extrinsic motivation are perceived to be controlling and therefore the least self-determined forms of extrinsic motivation (Ntoumanis, 2001).

The third category of extrinsic motivation is identified regulation. This dimension alludes to when an individual identifies with a task and the importance of that task, but may not experience inherent satisfaction from completing the task per se (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). Therefore, tasks that exist in this category may be limited (Ntoumanis, 2001). An example of such an activity may include extra training in order to improve performance (Inoue et al., 2015; Pelletier et al., 1995; Pelletier et al., 2001; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The final form of extrinsic motivation is integrated regulation. Integrated regulation refers to when identified regulations have been fully embraced by an individual, being incorporated with an individual's beliefs and values (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Standage et al., 2003). This, therefore indicates that an individual makes choices more out of choice than obligation, but will only complete a task once it has been completely integrated with the self (Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). Unfortunately, a scale has not yet been designed to measure this component of motivation, but one does exist for identified regulation, as well as the other forms of extrinsic motivation (Inoue et al., 2015; Ntoumanis,

2001). An example of integrated regulation may be the way in which a sports person incorporates all aspects of healthy living to their lives such as exercise, good diet and some socialising in order to maintain a balance (Ntoumanis, 2001). These two forms of extrinsic motivation represent the most internalised and self-determined forms of motivation, holding many similarities with intrinsic motivation (Ntoumanis, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Standage et al., 2003). These two forms of motivation may also be perceived as being autonomous and therefore are closely aligned with SDT (Ntoumanis, 2001).

The above indicates the multi-dimensional nature of extrinsic motivation which only forms part of the SDT and motivation as a unit. The different forms of extrinsic motivation have been explained, ranging from the least self-determined forms of motivation to the most selfdetermined forms of motivation. The last two forms of motivation are closely related to intrinsic motivation and should be considered as such due to the presence of some form of external influence that still exists, but the individual begins to internalise reasons for behaviour more and therefore the next section of motivation is intrinsic motivation.

2.2.3 Intrinsic motivation.

Intrinsic motivation may be seen as an internal desire to complete a task without the presence of a separable consequence, people are rather driven by the inherent pleasure that is gained from doing the task (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Intrinsic motivation includes the most self-determined and autonomous forms of motivation (Ntoumanis, 2001; Standage, et al., 2003). This is so due to the fact that for many years intrinsic motivation or amotivation (Ntoumanis, 2001; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Rather, intrinsic motivation should be considered as a multi-dimensional concept that is triggered by no external incentive (Ntoumanis, 2001; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). It is important to note that intrinsic motivation does not only exist within an individual, but also between an individual and the activity that he/she are partaking in, but this motivation can vary not only between tasks, but individuals too (Ryan & Deci, 2000). No individual presents the exact same motivation, for any given task, as another person (Ryan & Deci, 2000). For this reason, intrinsic motivation has been split into three separate sub-categories in order to attempt to define the different types of intrinsic motivation that may exist.

As mentioned above, intrinsic motivation may be split into three sub-categories including intrinsic motivation to know, towards accomplishments and to experience stimulation (Pelletier

et al., 1995, 2001). The first category is "intrinsic motivation to know". Intrinsic motivation to know refers to when an individual is motivated by the desire to learn a new technique or skill (Ntoumanis, 2001; Pelletier et al., 1995, 2001; Standage et al., 2003; Vallerand & Losier, 1999; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). This satisfaction is derived from attempting to understand a concept or task (Ryan & Deci, 2000). An example of intrinsic motivation to know may be the feelings that an individual experiences when they learn a new move specific to their sport or a new skill (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The second refers to "intrinsic motivation toward accomplishments" and this refers to the pleasure an individual experiences when improving a weak aspect of their performance which can be associated with mastery of certain techniques (Ntoumanis, 2001; Pelletier et al., 1995, 2001; Standage et al., 2003; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). In this case, individuals strive to improve at skills that they already possess, therefore indicating the link to the mastery of a task and therefore task orientation (Ntoumanis, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 2000). Through this individuals strive to feel competent and gain more satisfaction from accomplishing a difficult task (Ryan & Deci, 2000). An example of this may lie in mastering a task that an individual has failed to grasp for a prolonged period of time (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The final category refers to "intrinsic motivation to experience stimulation". Intrinsic motivation to experience stimulation refers to how individuals participate in a certain activity in order to gain a sensory stimulation derived from the engagement in the task (Pelletier et al., 1995, 2001). This sensory stimulation may present itself in the form of fun, pleasure, excitement, aesthetic excitement or the pleasant feelings released by endorphins after exercise (Ntoumanis, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Standage et al., 2003; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). An example of this type of motivation may lie in when an individual is excited or happy after completing a sport (Vallerand & Losier, 1999).

Evidence has indicated that when an individual exhibits this positive stimulation after sport, he/she often then exhibits greater levels of intrinsic motivation (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). There seems to be a lack of current and recent research which suggests that perceived competence is a mediator between sport participation and intrinsic motivation, despite the apparent links based in SDT (Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Despite the apparent lack of research in this area, it has been suggested that perceived competence predicts intrinsic motivation which in turn predicts self-worth (Georgiadis, et al., 2001). This research will therefore endeavour to explicate this relationship more clearly. SDT has been used as the dominating theoretical framework and therefore competence is one of the basic needs that must be satisfied for an individual to demonstrate self-determination and therefore will be explained in further

depth, not merely as a basic psychological need, but in the manner by which individuals perceive it.

As part of this section, differences between extrinsic motivation and intrinsic motivation have not been explicitly explained as they shall be elaborated upon at a later stage in the chapter. These shall be elaborated upon in the latter parts of sections 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5. This is due to the perspective that has been taken in relation to motivation. Using SDT as a dominating framework means that motivation is viewed along a continuum and therefore there are different levels of motivation making it difficult to differentiate between these concepts as explicitly as can be done for goal orientations and mind sets.

2.3 Perceived Competence

As mentioned above, competence is an instrumental construct to consider when investigating the levels of self-determination that an individual may possess. Perceived competence is a central concept when conceptualising and understanding motivation (Papaioannou et al., 2006; Wang & Biddle, 2003). Theories of motivation such as SDT and goal orientation theory underline the positive role of perceived competence. Competence refers to how individuals understand certain internal and external events and how they occur and the effectiveness that is demonstrated by individuals when completing these tasks (Elliot & Dweck, 2005; Gagné, 2009; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Perceived competence therefore refers to the manner in which individuals interpret, perceive and understand effectiveness and ability demonstrated when completing a task (Kimiecik & Horn, 2012). This is an aspect of competence that this study will attempt to investigate. When competence is considered as a unit of measure for SDT, it is perceived to be valuable in order to quantify motivation and the amount of selfdetermination that is experienced by an individual, considering them at some stage along the self-determination continuum (Mouratidis et al., 2008).

Competence is used when considering performance and motivation, due to the fact that it is a concept that applies cross-culturally, is used daily by individuals and throughout their lifespans and can have an effect on emotions of individuals based on their levels of competence (Elliot & Dweck, 2005). Competence has therefore been considered as an appropriate concept that may be utilised for this study despite lack of evidence of the relationships as a mediator of motivation and research based in an African context.

A motivational analysis of competence must involve accounting for an individual's behaviour and direction of action (Elliot & Dweck, 2005). This direction of action is based in motivational

theory as previously mentioned and refers to the intensity and direction of performed effort (Weinberg & Gould, 2011, 2014). Competence does not directly affect motivation, but rather, the experiences due to a sense of competence or lack thereof, therefore motivating an individual to pursue a task further or cease activity (Weinberg and Gould, 2014; Wang & Biddle, 2003). This illustrates how perceived competence may result in persistent behaviour from an individual as a bi-product of intrinsic motivation (Papaioannou et al., 2006). This is of particular importance to the South African context due to the fact that research has indicated that participation decreases as individuals increase in age (Department of Sport and Recreation, 2005; Georgiadis et al., 2001; Hagger & Chatzisarantis, 2009; Papaioannou et al., 2006; Standage et al., 2003; Wilson et al., 2008). It is expected that through participation in sport, the continued practice of tasks should reflect higher levels of perceived competence which hopefully also results in greater persistence (Papaioannou et al., 2006).

2.3.1 Sources of competence.

The sense of competence that an individual experiences is based not only on their subjective experience of their effectiveness, but also on feedback that they receive based on the recently completed activity (Kavussanu, White, Jowett, & England, 2011; Mouratidis et al., 2008). Therefore, the source and type of feedback is important to consider when it is provided (Mouratidis et al., 2008). Feedback is likely to foster or inhibit perceived competence and therefore motivation (Mouratidis et al., 2008). It is valuable to note that positive feedback has been closely related to intrinsic motivation according to Mouratidis and colleagues (2008). Negative feedback may have adverse effects on the perceived competence of an individual and therefore on the motivation exhibited by an individual.

Henderlong and Lepper (2002) stated that feedback as a source of competence information will enhance intrinsic motivation most effectively when it is perceived as being honest, if success is perceived as being a result of effort, rather than ability, if it is self-referenced as opposed to norm-referenced and if standards and goals are perceived as being clear and attainable. Timing of this feedback is also important as it was noted that feedback after an event was related to changes in perceived competence (Bandura, 1977; Mouratidis et al., 2008). The timing that is referred to is in relation to success and failure, as if an individual receives competence related information as a result of success, an individual may begin to view failure as incidental inducing less negative impact (Bandura, 1977). This, therefore illustrates to the individual that the task that has been unsuccessfully completed may be overcome through persistence and adaptation (Bandura, 1977). This therefore underlines the relationship that exists between perceived competence and intrinsic motivation.

2.3.2 Evidence.

Studies have been conducted investigating the mediating roles of various theories such as goal orientations and SDT on physical self-worth (Georgiadis et al., 2001; Wang & Biddle, 2003). The physical self-worth that is previously mentioned refers to the value that an individual places on a specific task or activity based on their internal value system (Georgiadis et al., 2001). This is of particular interest as it may be noted how similarities between perceived competence and physical self-worth may be pitted against one another as quite similar constructs. One refers to the quality of effectiveness experienced by an individual and the other refers to the value of this quality. Therefore, the study conducted by Georgiadis et al. (2001) draws pertinent similarities to that which is being conducted and indicates the significance of the research that will be conducted and the constructions of competence need to be accounted for (Wang & Biddle, 2003).

The instruments that have been used to measure physical self-worth have also indicated how individuals make lifestyle adjustments and exercise regiments, which has been identified as one of the important reasons for conducting this research project and using perceived competence as a variable (Georgiadis et al., 2001). It is hoped that the measurement of perceived competence will contribute in a meaningful way as the research conducted by Georgiadis et al. (2001) exhibits. Other research illustrates how intrinsic motivation may increase even in the absence of perceived competence which may be as a result of goal orientations, but this will be discussed in greater depth in the goal orientations section of this chapter, section 2.4 (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Wang & Biddle, 2003). It has also been shown in research that there are direct and indirect relationships between perceived competence and intrinsic motivation, but perceived competence has been found to be a strong predictor of intrinsic motivation, therefore the current research will endeavour to either support or reject this (Wang & Biddle, 2003).

Apart from limited research, findings have also been inconsistent and therefore this research will hope to contribute to the existing literature that has been presented in this dissertation. It has been established that perceived competence decreases with age and that males generally have higher levels of perceived competence than females, but it has been stated that many of the findings have been inconsistent as Wang and Biddle (2003) established that gender

differences were not significant (Biddle, Wang, Chatzisarantis, & Spray, 2003; Milavić et al., 2010). This research therefore seeks to replicate various research methods in order to establish some reliability and validity amongst methods and findings (Biddle et al., 2003; Milavić et al., 2010; Wang & Biddle, 2003). These results have also been established in conjunction with various other factors such as mind sets and achievement goal theory which will be discussed in further depth below.

2.4 Achievement Goal Theory

Achievement goal theory will be utilised for this study due to the strong associations that it has with participation in sport, as well as motivation (Papaioannou et al., 2006). As mentioned previously, achievement goal theory is deeply engrained within motivational literature and is therefore suitable to utilise in an attempt to identify relationships between the variables as well as indicate how it affects students' motivation to participate in sports. Studies have been conducted relating goal orientations to all of the above factors, such as task orientations with intrinsic motivation, growth mind sets and perceived competence, therefore the current research attempted to support these findings and contribute to the existing body of knowledge (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; McManus, 2004; Milavić et al., 2010; Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Standage et al., 2003; Standage & Treasure, 2002; Thøgersen-Ntoumani & Ntoumanis, 2007; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Williams, 1994). As previously mentioned this research has never been collated into one study in a South African context and therefore should provide valuable insights. This section will further expand on the brief definitions provided previously, as well as give an indication of the manner in which the theory will be utilised for this specific study.

Achievement goal theory refers to how an individual perceives an achievement situation and measures success or failure within the situation (McManus, 2004; Potgieter, 2011). This is used by individuals as a basis for individual competence testing in relation to a specific task (Potgieter, 2011). Achievement goal theory consists of two dimensions known as orientations due to the distinct difference that exists between the achievement goal and the orientation, those referring to the result and direction respectively (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Potgieter, 2011). Achievement goal theory, when applied to an individual, is simply known as the individual's goal orientation. The two dimensions that it can split into are ego orientation and task orientation (Duda, 1998; Milavić et al., 2010). These two dimensions of achievement goal theory are orthogonal in nature meaning that there can be more or less of task or ego orientation

(Papaioannou et al., 2006). This means that there could be any of four combinations of goal orientations (Papaioannou et al., 2006). These combinations may include high task orientation with a high ego orientation, high task orientation with a low ego orientation (task orientated individual), low task orientation with a high ego orientation (ego orientated individual) and a low task orientation with a low ego orientation.

It has been noted that goal orientations are primarily developed between the ages of six and fourteen, however they can also be moulded by the environment (Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; Potgieter, 2011). This means a coach or parent can create a task orientated environment to allow players to develop task orientation (Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; Potgieter, 2011). By doing this, it also allows for the basic needs of SDT to be fulfilled (Potgieter, 2011).

2.4.1 Ego orientation.

The first goal orientation that will be described is the ego orientation. This orientation is characterised by inter-personal competition, public evaluation or normative standards and people who thrive in these situations are thought to be ego orientated (Duda, 1998; Milavić et al., 2010). Individuals who are ego orientated often seek to demonstrate superiority over their peers or competitors and are therefore self-conscious about their ability to perform well (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Georgiadis et al., 2001; McManus, 2004). Therefore, this orientation bases success on external sources of information relevant to other people (Georgiadis et al., 2001; Papaioannou et al., 2006). Murphy and Dweck (2015) state that these individuals are primarily driven by performance goals to show competence. Performance goals are externally and socially evaluated, therefore indicating links between ego orientation and extrinsic motivation and perceived competence.

An ego orientated individual would feel deeply successful by beating a competitor with minimal effort (Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). In contrast, an ego orientated individual will feel unsuccessful or incapable if they have to place more effort into a specific task (McManus, 2004). If an individual feels incapable, they may adopt maladaptive behaviours such as shallow learning strategies and avoidance of challenging tasks (Elliott & Dweck, 1988; McManus, 2004).

As stated, goal orientation is orthogonal in nature and therefore, there may be benefit in having high task orientation and high ego orientation when considering continuous sport participation, but it is yet to be proven whether ego orientation has a positive effect on this (Papaionnou et al., 2006). This will be investigated further in this research.

2.4.2 Task orientation.

Contrary to ego orientation, where the focus is more on learning and improvement are considered to be task involving, and the people who thrive in these environments are thought to be task orientated (Duda, 1998; Georgiadis et al., 2001; McManus, 2004; Milavić et al., 2010; Papaioannou et al., 2006; Potgieter, 2011; Wang & Biddle, 2003). Task orientation therefore involves the desire to attain a goal and develop competence in a certain aspect of a task, therefore indicating a relationship between goal orientation and competence (Elliot & Dweck, 2005).

Individuals who are task orientated thrive when exerting great levels of effort and find it rewarding to succeed as a result of effort and feel a sense of mastery in relation to the task (Duda & Nicholls, 1992). Task orientated individuals do not mind making mistakes and view it as a chance to learn and enhance their knowledge often embracing challenges as the focus in these individuals is to improve their perceived level of competence and these challenges present such opportunities (Potgieter, 2011). Despite the association with competence, it is been indicated that task orientated individuals still exhibit interest in self-improvement even when perceived competence is low (Wang & Biddle, 2003). Task orientated individuals view success and progress as a self-referenced norm as opposed to a socially controlled norm (McManus, 2004).

2.4.3 Myths based on goal orientations.

There are certain beliefs that exist in relation to various theories and goal orientations are not exempt from these misconceptions. Potgieter (2011) states popular belief is that individuals can only be ego or task oriented. However, due to the orthogonality of the constructs, individuals are able to possess both in varying amount (Potgieter, 2011). It is also popular belief that ego oriented individuals are more suited to sporting situations, but there is limited evidence supporting this (Potgieter, 2011). Evidence has however indicated that task oriented individuals tend to develop more within these contexts, which does not necessarily mean that they are better at sport either (Potgieter, 2011). A final myth associated with goal orientations is that task oriented individuals do not care about winning, the fact is that they often use these situations to gauge their development and use them to evaluate themselves (Potgieter, 2011).

2.4.4 Goal orientations and level of competition.

Research conducted by McManus (2004) has indicated that there are interactions between goal orientations and individuals' competitive levels. The research indicated that amateurs have been found to be higher in task orientation than semi-professional athletes who are higher in ego orientation, but this difference is not significant (Carpenter & Yates, 1997). It has also been indicated that high school athletes exhibit higher ego orientation than college athletes, but these college athletes have been found to have higher task orientation without being separated by sport (White & Zellner, 1996).

2.4.5 Goal orientations and gender.

Research in this area has been conflicted to some extent, therefore, this research will hope to contribute in a meaningful way to the existing literature. Duda and Horn (1993) stated that gender differences are not significant for goal orientations. In general it seems that females are more inclined to be task oriented than males. Duda, Chi, Newton, Walling and Catley (1995) reported that females who play tennis show a higher task orientation than males, but there were no significant differences for ego orientation. In high-school sport, it was documented that females possessed a high task orientation and males a high ego orientation, but this study was not sport specific (Duda, 1989). More relevant to the current study were findings by Li, Harmer and Acock (1996) who indicated that in undergraduate physical education classes, males demonstrated higher ego orientation than females with no significant difference for task orientation.

2.4.6 Differences between task and ego orientation.

As indicated above, the two dimensions of task orientation and ego orientation are fairly dissimilar and therefore this will be illustrated in Table 1 below (Potgieter, 2011). The characteristics identified below have been alluded to in the above text, but this table serves to clearly illustrate the differences.

Table 1

Differences between task and ego orientation

Task Orientation	Ego Orientation
Minimal social comparison	Rely on social comparison
• Success is based on personal goals	• Success is based on winning
• Dominated by intrinsic motivation	• Dominated by extrinsic motivation
• Process is focussed on due to	• Outcome oriented due to the focus on
importance of learning	winning
• Effort is proportionately increased	• Minimise effort at every chance to
with challenge	avoid challenges
• Individuals are likely to take risks and	• Individuals avoid risks and are highly
are independent	dependent
• Individuals demonstrate less stress	• Individuals demonstrate high levels of
and are more focussed on the task	stress and divided focus

2.4.7 Evidence.

Research has indicated that individuals with high task orientation showed greater adaptability in achievement scenarios than individuals who have a high ego orientation or low task orientation (McManus, 2004). This has been supported by reports stating that these individuals also showed greater persistence with tasks (Elliott & Dweck, 1988). This is due to the fact that they are able to adapt techniques in various situations in order to complete the task at hand successfully (Elliott & Dweck, 1988). Ego orientated athletes have been noted to adopt maladaptive strategies when the achievement setting is not suitable to their expectations, such as superficial learning techniques and avoidance of challenging tasks (McManus, 2004; Potgieter, 2011). These scenarios have been further linked to physical activity settings indicating the applicability to the research at hand (Papaioannou et al., 2006).

The descriptions above indicate that orientations may be linked to motivation. Individuals who are task orientated have been documented as being more inclined to intrinsic motivation and ego orientated individuals being more inclined to extrinsic motivation (Duda, 1998; Georgiadis et al., 2001; Wang & Biddle, 2003). This is simply due to the underlying notions associated with the two theories. Task orientated individuals seem to be intrinsically driven and ego

orientated individuals seem to allow external factors to influence their perceptions of achievement situations. It should be noted however, that ego orientated individuals are seen as being motivationally fragile (Wang & Biddle, 2003). They often doubt their own competence due to the fact that they determine the level of their performance based on other individuals' performances as opposed to self-referencing these norms (Wang & Biddle, 2003). Ego orientated athletes adopt the notion that they must be the best implying the notion that skill is fixed indicating the link to mind sets which will be discussed in greater depth in the following section (2.5) (Potgieter, 2011).

Research has also indicated that there is a positive relationship between sport participation and goal orientations showing the importance of including such a concept in research of this nature (Papaioannou et al., 2006). The fact that goal orientations may be split into two distinct categories indicates that these categories are identifiable and measurable. With this, there will also be various factors that will be related to these dimensions of goal orientation and it is therefore important to investigate whether the other factors included in this study are responsible for this.

2.5 Mind sets

Mind sets is a concept that was first proposed by Carol Dweck (2000). Initially the concept of mind sets was proposed mainly for the academic field, but it has since been applied to the sporting domain as will be elaborated on below (Biddle et al., 2003; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). Mind sets refer to the ways in which people understand intelligence, personality and abilities (Dweck, 2000, 2008). Despite this concept relating to how individuals interpret their intelligence, it affects more than the domain of intelligence and has been shown to affect consumer preferences and goal setting (Murphy & Dweck, 2015; Priester & Petty, 2015). There are two completely different ways in which people understand intelligence which are known as fixed/entity or growth/incremental mind sets which will be unpacked further in this section (Dweck, 2000, 2008). It should however be noted that these two constructs are also orthogonal in nature and an individual may possess characteristics which categorise them into both mind sets (Dweck, 2000, 2008). Dweck has sought to investigate various mind sets and the manners in which people experience the world and its events (Priester & Petty, 2015). Mind sets are commonplace in activities of daily living and very often people do not realise that their behaviour is influenced by their mind set (Priester & Petty, 2015).

2.5.1 Fixed mind sets.

As mentioned above, the two mind sets that exist are fixed and growth mind sets (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000; Potgieter, 2011; Priester & Petty, 2015). Individuals who possess fixed mind sets are of the belief that the set of characteristics that were obtained at birth are likely to remain as such without any change and often remain loyal to these characteristics despite changing contexts (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000; Priester & Petty, 2015). These individuals view intelligence as a static trait that cannot be adjusted, but also refers to an individual's perceptions of their own talent and abilities (Dweck, 2010; Murphy & Dweck, 2015). When individuals present a fixed mind set, their primary concern is how they are being socially assessed and do not want to be identified as weak or inferior and would rather hide these deficiencies (Dweck, 2007, 2008). These individuals also avoid putting effort into a task as they believe that this effort will make them look unintelligent, due to the fact that they associate persistence with a lack of knowledge and execution of a specific task (Dweck, 2007; Murphy & Dweck, 2015). These individuals also lack adaptability and therefore struggle to recover from setbacks (Dweck, 2007). By definition, this mind set exists in direct opposition to the growth mind set which shall be further discussed below. This should however be considered with caution as Dweck (2000, 2008) states these constructs can be orthogonal in nature.

2.5.2 Growth mind sets.

In contrast to fixed mind sets is the growth mind set (Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2010; Murphy & Dweck, 2015; Potgieter, 2011). Individuals who possess growth mind sets believe that the characteristics obtained at birth are changeable and this may occur over time in the hope of improving and potentially attaining a certain goal (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2010; Priester & Petty, 2015). These changes are viewed as possible through education and effort, and effort is viewed in a positive sense as it indicates that the individual is exerting effort (Dweck, 2007; Murphy & Dweck, 2015). These individuals identify with potential and realise that skills, intelligence and ability are dynamic and changeable (Dweck, 2008, 2010). Individuals who have growth mind sets enjoy to learn and develop themselves and therefore believe that potential can be realised through practice and a lack of knowledge does not represent weakness, but rather, opportunity (Dweck, 2010; Murphy & Dweck, 2015). Individuals who possess a growth mind set are most often driven to pursue goals that encourage learning and therefore develop the perceived competence and level of mastery experienced by an individual (Murphy & Dweck, 2015).

2.5.3 Differences between fixed mind sets and growth mind sets.

As indicated above, the two dimensions of fixed mind sets and growth mind sets are fairly dissimilar and therefore this will be illustrated in Table 2 below (Potgieter, 2011). The characteristics identified below have been alluded to in the text above, but this Table serves to clearly illustrate the differences.

Table 2

Differences between fixed and growth mind sets

Fixed Mind set	Growth Mind set
Focus on performance goals	Focus on learning goals
• Desire to prove own ability	• Focus on improving ability
Avoid challenges	• Seek out challenges
• Lack motivation to improve ability	• Highly motivated to improve skill
• Believe that there is no need for effort	• Believe that effort is the key to
if individual is already skilled	success
• Withdraw from challenges	• Persist when challenged
• Do not enjoy challenges	• Enjoy being challenged

2.5.4 Evidence.

There is limited evidence that exists linking mind sets to the main factor being studied in this research (motivation), but more evidence that links it to the other factors of study (Biddle et al., 2003; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). It has been indicated that fixed mind sets more often than not predict amotivation (Biddle et al., 2003). This is due to the fact that individuals perceive themselves to be unable to learn and develop, they then lack the motivation to pursue anything in anyway as it will not benefit them. This is contextualized by amotivation and the absence of motivation to complete a task.

Mind sets are also influenced by the feedback individuals receive from parents, peers or coaches (Duda, 1998; Dweck, 2010; Williams, 1994). Dweck (2007) advances this statement by indicating that these feedback and praise can motivate individuals to do better and continue to develop, when the feedback is directed at the effort involved in completing a task. Development is one of the key characteristics of intrinsic motivation, thus indicating why
praise based on effort would result in a growth mind set. Dweck (2007) adds that a growth mind set improves motivation and resilience experienced by an individual. Individuals also have a greater ability to rebound from setbacks than individuals who have a fixed mind set (Dweck, 2007). In addition, when praise is relative to the intelligence of an individual, it gives them a sense of competency (Dweck, 2007). Individuals do not want to lose this feeling of competency and therefore adopt a fixed mind set (Dweck, 2007).

Empirical evidence reviewed, suggests that there may be relationships between mind sets and motivation, as well as the other constructs that have been included in this research. It has also been selected due to the fact that it shapes the way that individuals view the skills and abilities and the relationships that this may have on other variables included in this project. Individuals' views of their abilities can result in certain behavioural activities as well as certain motivational inclinations, goal orientations and perceptions of competence.

2.6 Theoretical interrelatedness: Empirical evidence.

The four constructs of motivation, perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets have been selected due to the interrelatedness that has been indicated from previous research. In addition, when considering the definitions and descriptions of the theories, it is apparent that these links can be identified and assumed. However, for the research to hold any credibility or reliability, empirical evidence must be used to illustrate these relationships, therefore these relationships will be more explicitly defined below. The interactions that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with motivation have been explained individually in the respective sections above. This section will underline the relatedness and relationships that exist between the three other variables, excluding motivation.

Competence is an important psychological need due to the fact that it is necessary for individuals to develop and improve (Elliot & Dweck, 2005). This desire to develop and improve can be related to the varying mind sets that an individual may possess (Elliot & Dweck, 2005). This holds particular importance when it is identified that individuals who possess fixed mind sets often look for competence validation, whereas individuals with growth mind sets often seek to acquire competence (Elliot & Dweck, 2005). For this particular research, this holds value as it indicates that individuals who possess a fixed mind set may be more inclined to have a lower perceived competence due to the mere fact that they are uncertain of their ability and seek validation. Elliot and Dweck (2005) also stated that mind sets not only shape how we perceive our own competence, but also how we view other peoples'

performance. Apart from competence holding relationships with mind sets, it has also been seen to be associated with goal orientations.

Research has indicated that apart from relationships with motivation and mind sets, competence also has interactions with the goal orientation that people follow (Bong, 2004; Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Ryan & Deci, 1989; Wang & Biddle, 2003). It becomes apparent that goal orientations can be linked to competence as accounted for by various literature. The purpose of competence in this study intends to investigate how individuals perceive their levels of competence in relation to a particular task and therefore goal orientations are intricately linked to this in the way that they direct effort in relation to a given task. Research conducted has further indicated the relationships that exist between perceived competence and goal orientations. Duda and Nicholls (1992) expected to find links between task orientation and high perceived competence as well as ego orientation and low perceived competence, but their research showed weak correlations between goal orientations and perceived competence indicating no significant difference between the relationships of goal orientations with perceived competence. This was contradicted by Wang and Biddle (2003) who stated that competence is directly affected by goal orientations and this has a direct influence on intrinsic motivation. Research has indicated that ego orientated individuals may be more susceptible to motivational uncertainty due to doubts regarding their own competence (Wang & Biddle, 2003). However, Wang and Biddle (2003) found that perceived competence has a positive, but weak relationship with ego orientation and task orientation was seen to be more of a mediator between perceived competence and intrinsic motivation in that specific study. This is further supported as it has been documented that ego orientation may have less subsequent positive effects on intrinsic motivation and perceived competence in students than a strong task orientated individual would (Ryan & Deci, 1989; Wang & Biddle, 2003).

Kavussanu et al. (2011) indicate that participants' parents' perceptions of goal orientations may influence an individual's views of competence based on the orientation that they exhibit, therefore illustrating how goal orientation and competence are interrelated. This link has been further indicated by Williams (1994) where it was shown that participants with ego orientation were more concerned with information about the result of the task and peer evaluation, whereas task orientated individuals were more concerned with information about the about learning, effort and improvement. This can therefore be linked to the different mind sets that individuals may possess as these concepts are similar to the frameworks that support fixed mind sets with relationships having been found with ego orientated individuals and growth mind sets being

linked to individuals who are more task orientated respectively (Wang & Biddle, 2003). This will be discussed in greater detail below.

This section will seek to further clarify and unpack the relationships that exist between goal orientations and mind sets which have been identified in previous research. Without this evidence, some similarities may already have been identified from the definitions and descriptions which were discussed earlier in this section. There are similarities between these theories' characteristics, but they are not identical, this will be demonstrated below in Tables 3 and 4 (Potgieter, 2011). They are related through the mere fact that growth mind sets and task orientations place high emphasis on learning as a result of completing a task as well as selfreferencing as the task progresses (Duda & White, 1992; Elliot & Dweck, 2005; Potgieter, 2011; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Van-Yperen & Duda, 1999). In contrast fixed mind sets and ego orientation are performance related and based on social comparison (Potgieter, 2011). The research conducted by Potgieter and Steyn (2010) uncovered that task orientation and the growth mind set relate significantly to positive reactions to success and failure. This is not the exact purpose of this research, but yet again serves as an indication of the similarities that exist between growth mind sets and task orientations. Additional evidence has indicated the predictive power of the growth mind set over creating a task orientated individual, whilst fixed mind sets are said to predict the development of individuals who are ego orientated (Wang & Biddle, 2003). This serves as an indication that not only do these variables influence and relate to motivation, but also to one another.

The similarities between task orientations and growth mind sets as well as ego orientations and fixed mind sets will be illustrated below in Tables 3 and 4 respectively. These tables will be used to clearly identify and articulate the overflow that exists between the concepts as they are only similar and not exactly the same (Potgieter, 2011).

Table 3

Similarities between task orientations and growth mind sets

Task Orientation	Growth Mind set					
Success based on personal goals	Focus on learning goals					
• Dominated by intrinsic motivation	• Focus on improvement					
• Learning process is important	Seek challenges					
• High effort exerted for challenging	• Motivated to improve skill					
tasks	• Effort is key to success					
• Enjoy risks and independent	• Persistent					
• Minimally stressed and well-	• Enjoy challenges					
focussed						

Table 4

Similarities between ego orientations and fixed mind sets

Ego Orientation	Fixed Mind set					
• Always concerned with social	Focussed on performance goals					
comparison	• Look to prove ability					
• Success based on winning	Avoid challenges					
• Dominated by extrinsic motivation	• Lack motivation to improve					
Outcome oriented	• Believe that there is no need for effort					
• Little effort for challenging tasks	if skilled					
• Avoid risks and dependent	• Withdraw from challenges					
• Highly stressed and have divided	• Minimal enjoyment when challenged					
focus						

2.7 Conclusion

The review of literature that has been presented above indicates the advances that have previously been made in this field. As evidenced above, research has been conducted, but it has firstly been conducted over a large period of time and secondly, no single study has sought to underline the relationships that exist between all of the concepts which are in question. The

most similar research which has been done was that by Wang and Biddle (2003) who investigated determinants of active lifestyles in Singaporean university athletes incorporating the concepts of intrinsic motivation, mind sets, goal orientations and perceived competence. Therefore, the other literature which has been reviewed above has sought to give a snapshot of previous relationships that have been made between the concepts of perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with motivation. These are the additional findings that will be investigated for the purpose of the current research and compared to the results that will be found to see if they are related or unrelated. The relationships between all four concepts as described above will also be investigated despite the main aim being to investigate how perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets are linked to motivation.

The chapter above has sought to give an understanding of how to define and understand the various theories to give a theoretical grounding for the current dissertation. It has also sought to demonstrate the relationships and interrelatedness that exists between these variables. An important point to note from this chapter is that motivation is not a unitary concept and therefore should not be viewed as such as the SDT proposes (Deci & Ryan, 1985a; Ntoumanis, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 1989; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). It is a concept that is viewed along a continuum and therefore the other variables that are being measured may be related to a certain type of motivation that exists at any point within the continuum. Some of these relationships that have been found in literature have been explained and elaborated upon as these are the findings that this research is setting out to elaborate upon. The findings that are discussed include associations between intrinsic motivation and a heightened sense of perceived competence, task orientation and a growth mind set (Duda, 1998; Elliott & Dweck, 1988; Wang & Biddle, 2003).

This literature has given this study a theoretical basis to develop a suitable methodology which will be discussed in the following chapter. By completing a thorough review of literature it allows researchers and readers to understand some of the key underpinnings that are associated with the concepts and how this is related to the research design and aims of the research. This then allows for suitable methods to be identified and utilised which will be elaborated upon next.

CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter will seek to explain and justify the means by which this research hopes to answer the main research question as well as the sub-questions. This chapter is used to outline the process that was followed to find the necessary answers. This methodology was developed in relation to the research question which searches to investigate whether perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets are related to the motivation of university students to participate in sports.

3.1.1 Research question.

• What is the relationship between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets on the motivation to participate in sports at university, if any exist at all?

Almost anything that can be thought of can be measured in modern life (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). There are two ways in which this may be done, either through qualitative measures or quantitative measures. This study will use the latter in an attempt to sufficiently and suitably quantify the data collected (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). This particular study utilised quantitative measurements to ensure that a level of objectivity was maintained when carrying out the processes of collection and analysis. The method is not entirely objective as results must still be interpreted, but it does give the research some credibility as the methods have been previously utilised and tested for reliability and validity and there are certain rules that should be adhered to (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). Quantitative measures have been selected for this particular study as the data that is obtained can be more generalizable to the larger population (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). The data is more generalizable due to the fact that a larger sample size can be utilised than in qualitative research as it would consume more time relative to quantitative data collection. The large samples and high volumes of data that are collected in quantitative research are done so through the use of measuring instruments such as questionnaires and surveys, amongst many others (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). This research project used four of such questionnaires, namely the Sports Motivation Scale (SMS-6) (Ostrow, 2002; Reilly & Korkusuz, 2008), the Perceived Competence Subscale of the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI) (Ntoumanis, 2001; Roberts, 1992), the Task and Ego Orientation in Sport Questionnaire (TEOSQ) (Duda, 1998; McManus, 2004; Ostrow, 2002) and the Self-theory Questionnaire (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2002).

Due to the quantitative measures that were utilised for this study, a deductive approach was utilised in order to draw answers from the data that were obtained from the questionnaires (Sanders, 2009; Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). From a deductive approach, the theory is initially utilised in order to develop hypotheses or research questions, after which questionnaires or surveys are conducted or observations completed, where finally an interpretation is made of the data that was found (Somekh & Lewin, 2004; Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). This therefore aligns the research with a certain paradigmatic position giving the research context and perspective. This paradigmatic position is primarily based on motivation and the SDT, as well as how perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets influence this motivation to play sport in a South African university context. The current research investigates the relationship between motivation to play sport, perceived competence, task and ego orientation and mind sets as previous research has indicated relationships between some of the variables, but no research has investigated them simultaneously (Elliot & Dweck, 2005; McManus, 2004; Milavić, et al., 2010; Pelletier et al., 1995; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010).

This chapter will attempt to explain the research design that was used, the methods of sampling, data collection and data analysis. This chapter will also discuss some of the ethical issues that were encountered, while the methodology and limitations of this will also be discussed. The methodology chapter will also seek to explain how the measurement and analysis of the variables will occur and what rules are associated with these various methods to clearly explain the research to allow it to be replicated accurately (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). These rules that are mentioned are explicitly stated to ensure that the replicability of studies is possible through the exact same use of various instruments (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999).

3.2 Research Design

The research design section of this chapter will attempt to explain the appropriateness of the characteristics that have been selected to answer the research questions. It refers to a simple outline of the research protocol that was conducted for this study (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). This section refers to the basic outline for how the data collection and analysis was conducted and how it will be explained in this particular study (Potgieter, 2011). It is at this point that the type of information to be collected is explained, the sources of information are uncovered and procedures for data collection explained (Kinnear & Taylor, 1996). These explanations are not done in great depth at this point as they will be covered more comprehensively later in this chapter, but they are rather identified so as to justify the research

design implemented. Information relevant to this research was collected through the use of the four questionnaires previously mentioned. Data was collected from various students participating in various sporting codes at Rhodes University. These questionnaires suitably operationalise the theories associated with them respectively into observable indicators that have been shown to be suitably objective, reliable and valid (Duda, 1998; Mallett, et al., 2007a; Mallett et al., 2007b; McManus, 2004; Ntoumanis, 2001; Ostrow, 2002; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999).

Thus, for this data to be collected and collated in relation to one another, a correlational analysis was conducted. A correlational analysis refers to the analysis of the strength of relationships that exist between two variables, which are measured using values ranging from +1 to -1, with +1 representing a perfect positive relationship and -1 representing a perfect negative relationship (Sanders, 2009; Somekh & Lewin, 2004; Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). Correlational research allows for the identification of relationships that exist between variables, but it does not allow for inferences to be made regarding causality (Shaughnessy, Zechmeister, & Zechmeister, 2009). Therefore inferential statistics should be utilised to identify these relationships (Shaughnessy, Zechmeister, & Zechmeister, 2009). The inferences that are drawn from results use sample statistics to infer something about the population parameter (Shaughnessy et al., 2009). Thus, this research sought to cross-validate motivation with various other factors and analyse the potential consequences of these relationships as opposed to indicating and assuming causal relationships through correlational analysis (Hagger & Chatzisarantis, 2009; Mouratidis, et al., 2008). A correlational analysis was utilised due to the nature of the study, the variables mentioned prior are motivation and perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. These variables were assessed individually and not as mediators or moderators of motivation. It was also appropriate due to the fact that the relationships between each of the variables were investigated. Descriptive statistics were utilised as part of this research in order to understand general trends within the sample and distribution of attributes relevant to the research (Somekh & Lewin, 2004; Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). Descriptive statistics assisted to attribute certain results to the characteristics possessed by the sample that was utilised and assisted in the analysis of data as well as the comparison with previous findings by other researchers if deemed to be necessary.

Due to the correlational nature of the research a deductive approach was used which involved analysis of data collected in order to deduce particular inferences (Sanders, 2009; Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). As mentioned above, the data was collected through the use of

four questionnaires. The appropriateness of the questionnaires used is determined by the goals of the research and the units of analysis which will be discussed in further depth in the 'Methods of Data Collection' section of this chapter. However, it is also important to understand the sampling methods that were utilised for this particular study and why they were used beforehand.

3.3 Sampling

Sampling is a crucial stage of the methodology as it is at this stage that representability and appropriateness of the people, settings, and processes is questioned in relation to the research question. Sampling refers to the process of decision making regarding the variables that will be accounted for throughout the process of the research and how participants will be selected for the study (Durrheim & Painter, 2006; Potgieter, 2011). These variables, as previously mentioned include factors such as the people, events, behaviours and processes that will be quantified (Durrheim & Painter, 2006). These variables can be measured for participants' existing individually or in groups and for the purpose of this study, the measurement will be conducted on sports teams (Durrheim & Painter, 2006). These factors were measured in the demographics section of the research and included variables such as age, gender, sport played and years playing sport, amongst others.

The main aim of sample selection is to choose one that is representative of the population. This helps the researcher generalise the results as the sample may be viewed as a component of a population (Durrheim & Painter, 2006; Shaughnessy et al., 2009; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). In order for a sample to be representative, considerations need to be made with regard to the size of the sample, which can often be restrained practically by time or resources and therefore this is an important factor to consider (Durrheim & Painter, 2006; Shaughnessy et al., 2009; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). A large sample also assists in gaining statistical accuracy which is important for the current study due to its quantitative nature (Durrheim & Painter, 2006). Another consideration that is important to deliberate upon is that of focus, as detail and quality will be determined by it, therefore it is better to have a focussed research topic where sufficient detail can be obtained as opposed to a broad topic where inadequate research can be conducted (Durrheim & Painter, 2006).

The sample for this particular study was selected systematically in order to avoid bias of selection as well as to be able to account for any contradictions to the norm that theory may suggest (Durrheim & Painter, 2006). Bias refers to situations where the sample over/under

represented and it is the desire of the researcher to avoid this (Sanders, 2009). The systematic selection of participants refers to how the researcher gained access to the sample. The head of sport at the university was approached to gain access to all sports teams. This was done once the project had been given approval from the Rhodes University Psychology Ethics Review Committee (RUPERC) and the Humanities Higher Degree Committee (HHDC). Once approval was given by the head of sport the researcher sought approval from the human resources manager and the registrar. After this, the researcher had access to the team coaches, who were contacted in order to set a suitable time for the questionnaires to be completed by the sample. Participants were only included if they consented to the research after completing the informed consent form Appendix A. The participants were also informed that they were able to withdraw from the research at any stage if they felt uncomfortable or simply did not consent to participation any longer.

A non-probability sampling technique was used to select the various participants to partake in the study. Non-probability sampling is defined by Terre Blanche and Durrheim (1999) and Sanders (2009), as sampling that is conducted due to some factor such as accessibility or convenience as opposed to following a process of sample selection. The non-probability sampling technique that was utilised was quota sampling. Quota sampling applies known characteristics of the population in order to split the population into various groups (Sanders, 2009). This particular study followed this process as the sports system at the university already divides sports into various codes that are made public. Some codes are larger than others and possibly represent the population more appropriately. There is also evidence which suggests that sport at Rhodes University does not have strong support from management and students do not all take it as seriously as one another (Mabizela, 2015). Therefore, this is how nonprobability sampling and subjective bias of the researcher may appear due to the fact that in conjunction with the supervisor, decisions were made regarding which sporting would complete the questionnaires (Sanders, 2009). The various sporting codes were selected based on the time of the year that the research was conducted and which sports were currently being participated in. Sports that were identified as having large numbers of participants as well as a split between race and gender were selected in an effort to make the sample representative. This decision was made in order to be able to generalise the sample to the overall population. Due to the fact that this was recognised and appreciated it could be accounted for during the research process.

As mentioned above, the data collection methods will be discussed in further depth below. This section of the chapter will discuss the various features and characteristics that were represented in the sample as well as what parts of the population were utilised to complete the sample.

Data was collected from a wide range of sporting codes, however, the larger sporting codes of rugby, hockey, soccer, rowing, netball, athletics and cricket were targeted in order to obtain a suitable sample size. A sample of 212 participants was obtained in order to keep the confidence interval as low as possible given the population size. Rhodes University is not one of the larger universities in South Africa with approximately 7000 students, there this contributed to the suitability of the sample size. In addition these students were selected in the hope of gaining a sample which was representative of the gender demographic of those participating in sports at Rhodes University. These students are taught to pride themselves on academic excellence with less emphasis being placed on sporting prowess (Mabizela, 2015). This is demonstrated on the "Why Rhodes" webpage the statement only includes one sentence regarding sport, primarily focussing on the academic aspects of the institution (Mabizela, 2015).

Participants were required to be bona fide students participating in university sport at any level, irrespective of gender and race so as to ensure that the results are generalizable to the wider university and South African context. This was in an effort to make the sample more representative of not only the Rhodes University population, but the South African university population at large. In addition, participants had to be registered and actively participating in sport to be included as a participant in the study. Students younger than the age of 18 were excluded from the study in an effort to maintain a sample that is generalizable to university age groups. This age restriction was also implemented in order to avoid ethical implications of working with minors. There was a demographics section in the questionnaires that was completed, prior to the four questionnaires, in order to gain an understanding of the inclusion criteria mentioned above, they were immediately removed from the study. This was done by safely discarding the questionnaire completed by that participant. These sources were selected in an effort to ensure that the sample was a close approximation that was illustrative of the full population.

3.4 Methods of Data Collection

The methods of data collection section will describe and justify the various methods that were utilised to obtain data specific to this research. It will include details such as how data was collected and how it was recorded and stored. This section will seek to justify why the various methods were relevant to the concept being measured as well as the levels of reliability that have been indicated in previous research. It will also explain how and where data was obtained, as well as time frames. Methods of data collection are defined by the object of study and therefore need to be appropriate to this (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). The objects of study are known as the units of analysis, which in the case of the current research project are motivation, perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). These units of analysis will be measured on groups of people playing for the various teams (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999).

Data is fundamental for research to be conducted to report meaningful results (Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). For this particular research, quantitative data was collected to make the findings meaningful through numerical representation. This data was obtained through the administration of four questionnaires, the SMS-6, the perceived autonomy subscale of the IMI, the TEOSQ and the Self-theory Questionnaire. These were thought to be the most valid in terms of measuring what the researcher intended to uncover, validity will be discussed in further depth in the relevant sections (Durrheim & Painter, 2006).

Firstly, once approval had been given by the necessary gatekeepers, the researcher gained access to the various sporting code coaches. Correspondence with the coach involved arranging an appropriate time for the participants to complete the questionnaires. The most suitable time was generally just before practices began or once practices were completed. This was done to intrude on the entire practices requesting completion of questionnaires by the athletes. Once this had been arranged, the researcher was suitably prepared in terms of paperwork (questionnaires and informed consent) and practice of administering the questionnaires. The researcher then met players at their respective practice sessions to conduct the research.

Before any questionnaires were completed, the researcher explained the purpose of the research as well as the basic constructs that were being examined. To ensure that all participants received identical information regarding the questionnaires and research, the researcher planned what would be said and ensured that all participants were able to ask any questions regarding the research. The researcher then ensured that all participants were above the age of 18. Any participants who were below the age of 18 were removed from the sample and given a task to do by the coach or dismissed to go home. The students who were above the age of 18 were then asked to sign a consent form stating that they were fully aware of what they were participating in and consented to their participation. Age was also verified by the age that was stated in the demographics section of the questionnaires. Each participant was given a pencil and eraser to ensure that all answers were as accurate as possible, indicating the paper and pencil fashion of the research. In addition to this the participants were given a folder/envelope that contained all of the questionnaires that they were required to complete. The folder also assisted in keeping their answers confidential as they were concealed from the eye of the researcher and other participants. The fact that the research was explained to participants and an informed consent was signed by participants meant that there was no need for a cover letter to the questionnaires. Despite the fact that there was no deception from the researcher regarding the aims of the research, the titles of the questionnaires were removed in an attempt to gain more honest answers, avoiding participants answering in certain ways when they saw the title. This also been increases the levels of reliability and validity of questionnaires (Nederhof, 1985).

Another factor considered was that if any questionnaires were not completed entirely and satisfactorily they were removed from consideration from the sample. This was considered so that the researcher could develop a contingency plan by either not considering these questionnaires or realising this before the end of the session and asking the participant to complete the questionnaire. This was considered in the case that the questionnaire was not completed or not completed acceptably. If not satisfactorily completed, it was then disregarded. The researcher, however made every attempt to clearly articulate the nature and length of the questionnaires. This was done due to the fact that the entire questionnaires had to be completed to allow for correlations and comparisons to be made.

The questionnaires took no longer than 15 minutes to complete. This time limit was confirmed through a pilot study which was conducted to ensure that all details of the research are correct before conducting it on the full sample. Participants were allowed to answer in their own time, to ensure that they did not feel pressured or rush their answers. If any participants needed more than the allocated 15 minutes, they were asked to remember their code and another session was organised in order to complete the questionnaire, but this time period was generally very flexible and no participants were required for follow up sessions. Questionnaires were coded in the case that participants were unable to complete their questionnaire. This was done in an attempt to ensure that questionnaires that were not completed, were in fact completed by the same participant and not by another participants. Coding was also conducted in an attempt to avoid asking for personal details such as participants' names. This was done in an attempt to

maintain confidentiality of the participants during the analysis process as their names were also included on the informed consent forms. The questionnaires began with participants completing the demographics section of the questionnaire in an attempt to generate raw data for descriptive statistics. Coding also allowed the researcher a means to ensure that all questionnaires had been recorded and that none had been duplicated during the recording process.

3.4.1 Demographics (Appendix B).

This section was the first section that the participants were required to complete after being given a brief introduction regarding the purposes of the research. Demographic variables refer to variables which illustrate the mean characteristics of the sample to illustrate that it is representative of the population using variables mentioned below (Sanders, 2009; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). The demographics section was a section of the questionnaires that was predominantly used to compile the descriptive statistics and gain an overview of the sample that had been selected. The demographics section included questions regarding the participants' gender, race, sporting code currently played, age, residing on/off campus, year of study, years at Rhodes University, as well as an option to explain why they participate in sports at Rhodes University. As can be noted in Appendix B, race was left open ended as research has been conducted which shows that when using categorical answer styles for race, it can lead to stereotypes being reinforced and participants answering in particular manners (Greenwald & Krieger, 2006). The participants were then required to progress onto the four sections of the protocol that were most pertinent to the research question. As mentioned before, participation was completely voluntary, and participants were able to withdraw at any stage. Once this section was completed, participants were able to move onto the section that pertained directly to the research aims, beginning with the SMS-6.

3.4.2 SMS-6 (Appendix B).

This questionnaire is used to assess various components of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation as well as amotivation while indicating what level of motivation participants possessed as prescribed by self-determination continuum of motivation (Duda, 1998; Ostrow, 2002). This is a 28 item questionnaire (Reilly & Korkusuz, 2008). This questionnaire involves six subscales which relate to motivation entirely (Ostrow, 2002; Reilly & Korkusuz, 2008). Within the six sub-scales, there is one which measures intrinsic motivation, as well as four that measure external regulation (integrated regulation, introjected regulation, identified regulation and external regulation), and one for amotivation (Duda, 1998; Ostrow, 2002; Reilly & Korkusuz, 2008). These areas of the questionnaire focus on perceived reasons for sport participation and attribute them to a certain type of motivation (Duda, 1998; Ostrow, 2002).

The SMS-6 is completed on a 7-point likert scale ranging from 1- *does not correspond at all* to 7- *corresponds exactly*. Participants were supposed to rate their level of agreement with certain phrases with their current reasons for practicing that particular sport. Examples of phrases included '*For the excitement I feel when I am really involved in the activity*' (intrinsic motivation scale), '*To show others how good I am at my sport*' (extrinsic motivation scales) and '*I don't seem to be enjoying my sport as much as I previously did*' (amotivation scale).

This is a widely used questionnaire and reports have found the reliability to be approximately 0.77 (Mallett et al., 2007b). Cronbach alpha scores of 0.7 and greater are generally accepted as being suitably reliable to be reused in further research (Ostrow, 2002). There has been debate over which motivation questionnaire should be utilised in sport (Mallett et al., 2007b). Despite the debate, Mallett et al. (2007b) found that the SMS-6 demonstrated suitable factorial and concurrent validity. This therefore indicated to the researcher that it would be suitable for this study, in addition to the fact that it measures the variety of types of motivation that exist along the continuum of motivation.

In addition, this questionnaire was selected for its ability to identify and categorise intrinsic motivation as one concept and measure it as such. This is due to the fact that when a task is intrinsically motivated it is more so carried out as a matter of instinct and desire than choice or coercion. It also holds value in how it measures for the various types of extrinsic motivation as mentioned in the literature review that motivation exists along a continuum and therefore varies in levels of intrinsic motivation and self-determination. It would also be of interest to view a scale that relates to amotivation due to the fact that people should not be amotivated when participating in sport out of choice, but there is always a chance of outliers or anomalies that may be unexplained.

Due to the fact that there is a theoretical overlap that exists between motivation and perceived competence, it was thought that it was best to answer the perceived competence sub-scale of the IMI. The perceived competence sub-scale of IMI was therefore answered next by participants.

3.4.3 Perceived competence sub-scale of IMI (Appendix B).

The IMI is a multi-dimensional scale that deducts an individuals' motivational inclination using various sub-scales (Ntoumanis, 2001). The IMI is used to measure an individual's overall intrinsic motivation through the use of five sub-scales of which only the perceived competence sub-scale was used for this research (Roberts, 1992). The IMI was initially designed to assess children's intrinsic motivation in relation to academic activities, but has since been adapted to sport situations with success (Deci & Ryan, 1985a; Ntoumanis, 2001). The various sub-scales all pertain to different aspects of intrinsic motivation and ways in which it may present itself (Roberts, 1992). The Perceived Competence Subscale of the IMI was utilised to measure perceived competence. The scale has been slightly modified to include the word sport with low reliability changes reported in many cases (Ntoumanis, 2001). This adaptation was conducted due to the fact that this questionnaire was previously used with children within the academic context (Deci & Ryan, 1985a). It includes 6 items relating to athletes perceived competence in sport. These six items relate to how competent individuals feel in relation to a specific task, which in this case is the sport that they participate in (Ntoumanis, 2001).

The perceived competence sub-scale of the IMI was completed on a 7-point likert scale (Ntoumanis, 2001). This scale ranges from 1-7 with 1 representing *not true at all* and 7 representing *very true* (Ntoumanis, 2001). Participants were required to rate their perceived competence in relation to the statements that were present in the questionnaires dependent on how true it is in relation to them. Examples of these phrases included *'I think I am pretty good at this sport'* and *'This is a sport that I could not do very well'*. Cronbach alpha scores of 0.8 have been reported by Ntoumanis (2001) for the Perceived Competence Subscale of this questionnaire.

The perceived competence sub-scale of the IMI was selected due to the perceived validity of the scale in relation to its association with the SDT and motivation. This is as a result of the scale measuring the same constructs that are discussed in SDT. In addition, it was noted that many of the other perceived competence questionnaires were either designed for use on children, were based on feedback and were not essentially self-referenced, based on comparative criteria or were not shown to be reliable within the sporting context (Barnett, Morgan, van Beurden, & Beard, 2008; Harter, 1982; Mouratidis et al., 2008). Despite this, it was still possible to use such references to support the review of literature.

Once the perceived competence sub-scale of the IMI was completed, the participants were required to progress onto the TEOSQ and complete it. The theory behind the TEOSQ as well as the structure of it is described below.

3.4.4 Task and Ego Orientation in Sport Questionnaire (Appendix B).

The Task and Ego Orientation in Sport Questionnaire is a questionnaire that indicates the orthogonality of this construct within an individual (Castillo, Tomás, Balaguer, Fonseca, Dias, & Duda, 2010; Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Duda, 1998; Ostrow, 2002). It assesses task versus ego orientation in the sport context (McManus, 2004; Ostrow, 2002). It includes 13 items relating to when athletes feel most successful in their sport which infer task or ego orientation in participants (Castillo et al., 2010; Duda, 1998; McManus, 2004; Ostrow, 2002; Potgieter, 2011). There are seven questions relating to task orientation and six questions relating to on ego orientation (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Potgieter, 2011). When completing the questionnaire, participants were asked to think of when they felt most successful in their sport and answer the 13 questions in light of this thought (Ostrow, 2002; Potgieter, 2011; Roberts, 1992).

This questionnaire was assessed on a 5-point likert scale ranging from 1- *strongly disagree* to 5- *strongly agree* (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Potgieter, 2011). Participants' goal orientations were rated in relation to statements such as '*I learn a new skill and it makes me want to practice more*' (task orientation) and '*I can do better than my friends*' (ego orientation) (Potgieter, 2011). The Cronbach alpha scores for this questionnaire range between 0.82 and 0.89 for task and ego orientation respectively (Duda, 1998).

The TEOSQ was selected to measure task and ego orientation in sport as it is specific to measurement in sport as the name suggests. The sport which the questionnaire was being related to was specified by the researcher prior to the commencement of the questionnaires by the participants. This was so, as the Appendix B, which was also used by McManus (2004) was used in relation to snow skiing. Whereas in this research, a variety of sports were included.

In addition, the TEOSQ measures two constructs that have been strongly linked to motivation in previous sport (McManus, 2004; Standage & Treasure, 2002; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Zahariadis & Biddle, 2000). In addition, these two constructs of task and ego orientation can be closely related to motivation simply in nature as they are generally intrinsically and extrinsically aligned respectively. This therefore indicates the validity of the questionnaire in relation to the concepts being measured. Once the TEOSQ was completed, participants were required to move onto the final section of the questionnaire. The final section of the overall protocol required participants to complete the Self-Theory Questionnaire. This questionnaire is described in necessary detail below.

3.4.5 Self-theory questionnaire (Appendix B).

Despite the Self-Theory Questionnaire being used, there has been inconsistent findings based on this instrument despite the adaptation of it to the physical/sporting domain (Biddle et al., 2003). This therefore indicates that more attention is required to optimise the use of this questionnaire. The Self-theory Questionnaire is a questionnaire that is used to determine whether a person has a fixed or growth mind set (Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). It is an 8 item questionnaire with 4 items representing a fixed mind set and 4 representing a growth mind set (Dweck, 2002), despite other studies using 6 item versions such as Potgieter and Steyn (2010). Examples of these phrases include 'You can learn new things, but you cannot really change your basic level of intelligence' (fixed mind set) and 'No matter how much intelligence you have, you can always change it a good deal' (growth mind set) (Dweck, 2002).

Answers are given along a six point Likert scale ranging from 1- *strongly disagree* to 5*strongly agree* (Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). The Cronbach alpha scores for this questionnaire were 0.74 for fixed mind sets and 0.80 for growth mind sets from a study conducted by Biddle et al., (2003). Biddle et al. (2003) measured the convergent validity of this questionnaire and found it to be suitable for use on participants aged 11-19. Despite this, the questionnaire was also found to be suitable for the current research as convergent validity simply indicates that a certain construct measures what it is supposed to and are related (Biddle et al., 2003).

The Self-theory Questionnaire has not only been selected for its utility to decipher whether individuals possess fixed or growth mind sets, it has been selected for its proven utility in the South African context as indicated by Potgieter (2011) and Potgieter and Steyn (2010). This is one of the few questionnaires that can reliably measure mind sets as proposed by Dweck (2000). In addition, there is limited research linking mind sets to motivation and this is therefore the most suitable measure for this context for the purpose of comparison (Biddle, et al., 2003; Dweck & Leggett, 1988; Wang & Biddle, 2003).

It should be noted in closing that all of the questionnaires above have been previously used by other researchers and have shown suitable levels of reliability and validity to be used in the current study. The data and scores that were collected from the questionnaires were recorded as per the respective manuals and stored safely in folders that were secured by password on the researcher's laptop. The data was stored until such a time that it was required for data analysis after all the participants had completed the questionnaires and the researcher was satisfied with the number of participants.

As indicated in the literature, there are relationships between some of these variables and motivation that have been indicated in previous research, therefore this study looks to further previous research that has been conducted, thus supporting the use of these questionnaires. In addition, this research, through the use of these questionnaires will seek to indicate any further relationships that may exist between all of the variables being measured. It should also be noted that these questionnaires have been selected based on previous research and the results that have been found. The questionnaires were also selected based on similarities of context such as students who participate in sport, with very limited research having been conducted using these questionnaires and showing reliability, it was still thought to be useful to utilise a pilot study so as to ensure that all factors in this study were catered for on a small scale before conducting the study on the full sample. The two main concerns were that the questionnaires were suitable for the sample in terms of understanding of the questionnaires and also to identify a definite time frame so as to inform the gatekeepers (coaches and managers) when sessions were organised.

In addition to the validity of the various questionnaires being mentioned in the respective previous sections, the pilot study which will be described below will also assist in indicating the validity of the questionnaires. The pilot study will allow the researcher to determine if the questionnaires are suitable in order to address the research questions and indicate whether or not participants understand the questionnaires.

3.5 Pilot Study

The pilot study was conducted using 10 participants from the netball club. A pilot study refers to a preliminary study that evaluates the conditions that are part of the study to ensure that the questionnaires are suited to the study (Potgieter, 2011). This was done as a second precaution as all of the questionnaires have been previously used and have been shown to indicate suitable reliability and validity which will be explored further below (Kavussanu, et al., 2011; Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; Mallett et al., 2007b; Mouratidis et al., 2008; Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Williams & Gill, 1995). In the proposal for this research it was stated that the completion of questionnaires would take no longer than 30 minutes and

this was supported as all participants completed the questionnaires within 10 to 15 minutes during the pilot study. This therefore allowed the researcher to give the other sporting codes who were included in the research a better indication of how long it took and indicated that it was not very time consuming. This timeframe was also identified to give coaches and managers an indication of how long the process would take. No changes were made to the study or the questionnaire as it was conducted smoothly and in the manner that had been expected from the prescribed methodology.

3.6 Data Analysis

This section explains the analysis of the research. This process occurred once the data had been collected and prepared. As mentioned in the previous sections, data was collected through the use of a demographics section and four other questionnaires that quantified the concepts of motivation, perceived competence, goal orientation and mind sets. The data preparation is a process that involves collection of data and the transformation of results which were already completed (Hesse-Biber, 2011; Jha, 2014). During the collection and recording stages utmost care was taken to ensure that the data was logged and transferred correctly from the questionnaires to the data base on the researcher's laptop. The data was cross checked for accuracy once it has been recorded.

The process then became more reflexive and time consuming involving the use of computer programmes (Hesse-Biber, 2011; Jha, 2014). Some time was saved as the questionnaires had already been transformed therefore the researcher was simply required to follow the guidelines in the respective manuals. The programme known as Statistica was utilised for the analysis of the data set. For this research, various functions within Statistica were utilised which will be described below. The collection and analysis of data was conducted so that deductive research could be completed where answers are drawn from the data itself and existing theories as described in the review of literature (Sanders, 2009; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). All statistical tests were conducted under the assumption of homogeneity of variance within the sample (Keeping, 1962).

3.6.1 Descriptive statistics.

The initial data analysis for this research took the form of descriptive statistics. Descriptive statistics refer to statistics that are used to summarise and simplify the data and demonstrate how the data is spread out (Sanders, 2009; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). These types of statistics are used to describe the data set (Potgieter, 2011). This style of statistical analysis will be

utilised to surmise the demographics section as well as the other questionnaires that were used in the study. This was done to give a snapshot of the sample that has been obtained, which also assists with identifying if the sample is representative of the population (Sanders, 2009). In addition, this form of statistics allows the researcher to identify where in relation to the 'norm' that the rest of the sample exists (Sanders, 2009).

Descriptive statistics are recorded in the form of frequencies (Potgieter, 2011). Frequency data is often illustrated with different categories and can be tabulated such as numbers of male and female participants in the various sports measured (Somekh & Lewin, 2004). The descriptive statistics that were used for this research included the overall means of the various measures. The mean refers to the overall average of the combined scores and gives an indication of the central tendency of the data (Sanders, 2009; Shaughnessy et al., 2009). The average is calculated by dividing the overall sum of the scores by the number of scores present in the sample (Shaughnessy et al., 2009).

Standard deviation and means were utilised as part of the descriptive statistics section and are measures of variance and central tendency respectively (Sanders, 2009). Standard deviation simply indicates how much a sample varies from the mean (Sanders, 2009; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). The standard deviation of the sample was calculated by calculating the square root of the variance (Somekh & Lewin, 2004). The calculations should indicate that approximately 95% of the scores found from the sample exist within two standard deviations of the mean and 99% within three standard deviations of the mean (Somekh & Lewin, 2004).

3.6.2 Inferential statistics.

Inferential statistics are statistics that are utilised by researchers to test the significance of the findings through statistical methods (Hanneman, Kposowa, & Riddle, 2012; Sanders, 2009). Inferential statistics are used by researchers to indicate whether the independent variable has an effect on the measurable variable such as the effect of gender on an individual's motivational or goal orientation (Shaughnessy et al., 2009). These statistics are predominantly used to answer the research questions that guided this project (Potgieter, 2011). Inferential statistics were identified through the use of Pearson's correlation coefficient. These tests are all parametric tests which assume that data is drawn from a sample with characteristics that are known to the researcher known as population parameters (Keeping, 1962). The inferential statistics will be used in an attempt to indicate relationships and correlations that exist between scores and sub-scores of the variables. The tests are used to investigate the relationships that

exist between the scores on the various questionnaires and the subscales that were used. These tests will also analyse the relationships that possibly exist between the certain variables and the specific sporting codes that were selected for this particular research project.

The Pearson's correlation coefficient will be used. A correlation is used to measure the direct relationships that exist between variables (Davey, Sterling, & Field, 2014). Pearson's correlation coefficient is a measure of the relationship that exists between two variables where the data is interval or ratio (Davey et al., 2014; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). The correlation coefficient is measured by a unit known as Pearson's r (Davey et al., 2014; Hanneman et al., 2012; Somekh & Lewin, 2004). The r value can range from -1 which represents a perfect negative relationship to +1 which represents a perfect positive relationship, a value of 0 would represent no relationship at all between variables (Davey et al., 2014; Somekh & Lewin, 2004).

The Pearson's correlation coefficient can be calculated manually, but for accuracy and to decrease the amount of time spent on this, the statistical programme Statistica was used. It assisted in visually presenting the analysed data which was presented in the results section of this project. Due to the nature of the programme, provisions will be made for it to be accurate, therefore limiting the chance of the researcher misrepresenting the data which would be highly unethical, which therefore leads onto the next section of this chapter, 'Ethics'.

3.7 Ethics

Ethics refer to measures that are taken to keep the sample and population safe and to maintain their trust as well as maintain their image (Andersen, 2000). It is crucial that ethics are strictly adhered to and ensure no harm is done to participants (Hewitt, 2007; Jordan & Meara, 1990).

It was important that the participants were able to benefit from the study in some way, which was in the form of knowledge generation when the results of the study were completed (Hewitt, 2007; Jordan & Meara, 1990). Participants were given autonomy in order to think and decide freely when completing the questionnaires without any extraneous influences from the researcher (Hewitt, 2007; Jordan & Meara, 1990). There was no misrepresentation of participants, and participants were given the opportunity to view interpretations that have been made regarding their responses to the questionnaires (Hewitt, 2007; Jordan & Meara, 1990). It was made clear to participants that confidentiality would be maintained throughout the analysis and writing up process so as to protect their identity through the use of the prescribed codes (Hewitt, 2007; Jordan & Meara, 1990). Data was stored within the researchers' computer in a specific folder relating to the research, with a password for safety, so that later analysis could

be done. In addition to ensure that the participants were fully aware of the purposes of the research and to indicate that they were willing to participate, they completed an informed consent which is attached as Appendix A.

The ethical concerns that were involved with this study were ensuring that all participants were able to consent for themselves and therefore over the age of 18. This was a field that was required to be completed in the demographics section of the questionnaire. Another ethical concern that was dealt with, was that of confidentiality. This was suitably dealt with by coding questionnaires so that participants' identities were not revealed allowing them to be known by a code as opposed to a name in the analysis. The researcher did however know the participants as he was present during the completion of the questionnaires and the participants were required to fill in an informed consent with their names. This was dealt with through coding. It was of concern also to ensure that participants were able to withdraw from the study at any stage and this was emphasised verbally and repeated in the informed consent form. Misrepresentation was also identified as a concern, therefore when transferring data, the researcher took utmost care and also double checked the raw data when complete. As mentioned above, privacy was also an issue which was ensured by storing the data in a laptop with a password which only the researcher had access to. The fact that the participants were part of the Rhodes University student body meant that permission had to be obtained through a letter to the registrar, director of student affairs and head of sport (Appendix C). After permission was given from these sources, coaches were then also contacted to make them aware of the research and to organise a suitable time to conduct the questionnaires. This was all in an attempt to respect the authority of the respective powers in relation to the sample.

It is important to note that the above research could not be conducted without prior ethical approval which was obtained from RUPERC and HHDC. RUPERC was responsible for ensuring sound research design as well as ensuring that suitable ethical consideration was given to the project. HHDC was responsible for ensuring that the project was acceptable by the faculty research standards.

3.8 Limitations of the Methodology

Despite all efforts to make this research reliable and generalizable, there were some limitations that were experienced. A researcher should be able to identify these flaws and difficulties. Researchers should be able to address them or warn against them for future research. In the methodology section, the limitations were few, but nevertheless should be identified.

There are limitations that exist for quantitative research such as not being able to gain the same, dense detail from the data as qualitative research, but for the constructs which were being investigated, it was considered to be the most appropriate (Rubin & Babbie, 2009). Despite this, there was a section after the demographics section which allowed for participants to qualitatively explain reasons as to why they participate in their specific sports. Quantitative measures were considered to be appropriate due to the fact that research of this type has typically used quantitative approaches as indicated in the review of literature and quantitative research allows for larger samples to participate allowing for generalizability and representability of the population (Rubin & Babbie, 2009; Terre Blanche & Durrheim, 1999). Due to the quantitative nature of the research, only questionnaires were used to obtain data, which again meant that detailed data was difficult to obtain, but due to the correlational nature of the research this was not a pressing issue. Interviews could have been included to use mixed methods research, to gain richer data. This would have however been time consuming based on the sample size that was used. It should also be considered that when conducting these questionnaires that the application should not vary and should be conducted in the manner explained in the manual for all groups of participants. The motivations of participants should also be noted when recording data as some participants may have felt slightly coerced by other team members' participation or may be participating for very different reasons to other participants, but it was hoped that the SMS-6 would assist in deciphering this.

Further limitations that were experienced include the fact that the data collection process was substantially delayed by students writing exams and ceasing sports practices, which was further compounded by the three week vacation immediately after. Data collection in the next term was also slow due to the fact that many people were not urgent in resuming sports practices. In addition to this, data collection was conducted at sports fields prior to or after practice, which meant that collection conducted was sensitive and subject to weather conditions which at times complicated the collection or simply meant that it could not be completed at that time and therefore had to be rescheduled.

A factor which was difficult to deal with and which at times hindered data collection was the lack of organisation and communication that was present within the sports administration department and amongst the various sporting codes. This was surprising as when contact was initially made, responses were speedy and accurate. It was however shocking to note that the contact details that the researcher was given to contact captains/coaches/chairperson's were either outdated or not present at all. Fortunately the researcher has been at the university for a

prolonged period of time and when this was the case, he was able to find a means to contact the relevant people to arrange for data collection to occur. As the data collection progressed, the researcher often found that when he was attending practice sessions to conduct the questionnaires, the practice would be cancelled/postponed/poorly attended, without the researcher having been made aware of this by the respective coach/captain. It also occurred on various occasions that the researcher was told to come at a certain time to conduct the research and the coach was still conducting practice forcing the researcher to wait for practice to be completed before the questionnaires could be completed by the participants. Other occasions when the researcher was told to come, the sessions were poorly attended and very few people were present to complete the questionnaires which meant that data collection would be further prolonged.

A factor which was not considered, was language barriers as the questionnaire was posed in English and a participant was unable to understand the content of the questionnaire. The researcher was however fortunate enough to have someone present who was able to translate the questionnaires for this participant.

It should also be noted that only sports people who play sport for Rhodes University were utilised for the research which limits the generalizability to the South African University context, but this was considered to be suitable due to the fact that there is limited sports psychology that has been conducted in South Africa in any case, let alone specific contexts. This therefore meant that the research would contribute meaningfully to the field.

3.9 Conclusion

In closing the chapter above, it alludes to the methods which were utilised to answer the research questions related to this study. This chapter gave an indication of the research design that was utilised as well as the sampling methods which were used to include participants. The above information indicates that a quantitative study was completed through the use of four questionnaires, these questionnaires included the SMS-6, the perceived competence sub-scale of the IMI, the TEOSQ and the Self-theory Questionnaire. These questionnaires were thought to be appropriate to the research question and were therefore used based on literature that was reviewed. This illustrated the manner in which data collection was going to be conducted and the methods for data analysis was also discussed. In closing the limitations that were experienced and identified were explained as well as the ethical considerations that had to be considered. Once all of the above was completed, the researcher was able to progress onto the

results and data analysis section of the project. This section will include the results that were found during the analysis of the raw data that was collected.

CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DATA ANALYSIS

4.1 Introduction

A reminder of the research objectives shall be given prior to the outset of the results. This research sought to investigate the relationships that motivation has with perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. These variables were investigated on a sample of South African University students. Apart from the relationships that exist between motivation and the other variables, the relationships that were identified between these variables were also investigated.

This chapter is the natural progression from the methodology chapter that was just completed. The methodology chapter looked to explain the various methods that were used during the design of the research, sampling, data collection, the pilot study and data analysis stages of this particular research. Four questionnaires were used in total, namely the SMS-6, IMI-PC, TEOSQ and Self-theory Questionnaire. The methods that were utilised to analyse these questionnaires provided scores that were recorded as descriptive and inferential statistics. The results that were found were collected in the hope of answering the research question in the best possible manner, and this was complimented by the various data analysis tools that were used. These methods were selected in order to attempt to answer the following:

• What are the relationships between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets on the motivation to participate in sports at university, if any exist at all?

In order to answer the question above, this chapter will present the results that were found, and considered to answer the research question in the most appropriate manner. This will first be done by describing the sample and then considering the various correlations and relationships that exist between the various factors.

4.2 Description of Sample

As mentioned earlier, the sample that was included in this particular research consisted of 212 participants from various sporting codes at Rhodes University. The descriptive data that was recorded included age, gender, race, season of sport and the sporting code that the participants participated in. These were all characteristics that were measured as part of the demographics section of the questionnaire, but this chapter will look to illustrate only those characteristics that are relevant to this particular study.

Of these 212 participants that were previously mentioned, there were 136 males and 76 females. There were 120 white/Caucasian participants, 84 black/African participants, 7 coloured participants and 1 Indian participant. The participants varied from 18 years of age to 30 years of age with an average age of 20.97 years. Participants had between 1-20 years of experience playing their specific sport. Participants also varied in the amount of time that they had spent at the university, with this varying between 1-8 years, with the academic year of study not always correlating to this due to students who either fail to obtain enough credits to continue the following year or students who have come to continue with post-graduate education. The sporting codes were however dominated by winter sports due to time of the year that data collection was completed, but efforts were made to obtain a fair sample of participants who participate in summer sports too. In addition to this sports were selected in order to represent differing races that are present within the population as well as making efforts to represent males and females. As previously mentioned, this was done through quota sampling where various characteristics of the samples were known by the researcher and supervisor, therefore informing decisions that were made based on selecting the sample.

When viewing the tables that follow below, efforts have been made in order to identify the number of participants associated with various variables, years of participation and percentages associated with these measurements. Fortunately in this study all questions were completed due to efforts made by the researcher to ensure that the questionnaires were suitably finished before and after completion of the questionnaires, therefore it was simple to compile and analyse the data with no data that was missing.

The relevant descriptive data is provided in Tables 5 to 8 with the main purpose of the study, the correlations, illustrated in Table 9. Table 9 will also include a note below where the various abbreviations that have been used on the table may be identified. With an explanation of the setup of the tables in mind, the descriptive findings will now be tabulated in order to give a visual and numerical understanding of the sample that was investigated.

Table 5

Descriptive statistics representing gender distribution amongst participants

Variable	Count	Percent
Male	136	64.15
Female	76	35.85

Table 5 indicates that there was 64.15% (*n*=136) of the sample that was male and 35.85% (*n*=76) of the sample that was female, indicating that a larger proportion of the sample was male.

Table 6

Descriptive statistics representing age distribution amongst participants

Variable	Count	Percent	
18	14	6.60	
19	36	16.98	
20	50	23.58	
21	41	19.34	
22	36	16.98	
23	10	4.72	
24	12	5.66	
25	7	3.30	
26	2	0.94	
27	2	0.94	
28	1	0.47	
30	1	0.47	

Table 6 illustrates the age range of participants, and demonstrates that majority of participants that were recruited for this research fall between the ages of 19 and 24. The wider range shows that students who play the sports that were selected range from 18-30 years of age. The table shows that the largest proportion of students in the sample were 20 years of age which represents 23.58% (n=50) of the total sample.

Table 7

Variable	Count	Percent	
Black	84	39.62	
White	120	56.60	
Coloured	7	3.30	
Indian	1	0.47	

Descriptive statistics representing race distribution amongst participants

Table 7 illustrates the various races that were represented in the sample that was obtained for this study. The table indicates that majority of participants were either black or white, with coloureds and Indians not featuring as prolifically in the selected sports. The results indicate that the selected sports are dominated by white students (n=120) as compared to black students (n=84), which represent 56.6% and 39.62% of the sample respectively.

Table 8

Variable	Count	Percentage
Rugby	41	19.34
Mens hockey	32	15.09
Ladies hockey	47	22.17
Netball	10	4.72
Athletics	6	2.83
Mens rowing	11	5.19
Ladies rowing	10	4.72
Mens soccer	24	11.32
Ladies soccer	10	4.72
Mens b.ball	11	5.19
Cricket	10	4.72

Descriptive statistics representing sport participation amongst participants

This table above represents the various sporting codes that were selected during the process of sampling. The table above indicates how these sports each contributed to the sample that was utilised for the research. As can be noted above, some sports had male and female teams that were represented such as hockey, soccer and rowing. The table indicates that majority of

participants that completed the questionnaires played rugby or ladies hockey and represented 19.34% (n=41) and 22.17% (n=47) of the total population respectively. The two other major contributors to the sample were men's hockey and men's soccer who contributed 15.09% (n=32) and 11.32% (n=24) respectively to the sample. These four selected sporting codes represented 67.92% (n=144) of the total population.

4.3 Inferential Statistics/ Correlations

From the four questionnaires that were completed by the participants, average scores were recorded from the results that were obtained (refer to Table 9). It was found that the sample showed greater levels of intrinsic motivation as opposed to the other forms of motivation. The sample showed a score of 21.07 out of a possible 28 for intrinsic motivation, where scores of 19.81 and 7.47 were found for identified regulation and amotivation respectively. The sample was also found to be more task orientated than ego orientated showing an average score of 4.14 out of a possible 5 for task orientation and a significantly lower score of 1.94 out of 5 for ego orientation. The sample was also seen to show relatively high levels of perceived competence with an average score of 4.97 out of 7. The final measure recorded was that of mind sets where the average score was 34.70 which on a scale from the mind set assessment tool indicates that the participants generally demonstrate a growth mind set believing that skill can change and indicating a willingness to work hard (Mind set Assessment Profile, n.d.).

The page below bears an illustration of the inferential statistics (Table 9) that were analysed as the core component of this research. The inferential statistics below use correlations to demonstrate the relationships that exist between particular variables that were used for this specific study.

This table illustrates the relationships that exist between the following variables. As previously mentioned, motivation is being measured in this research using the SDT continuum of motivation. Based on this, the SMS-6 is used to identify amotivation, external regulation, introjected regulation, identified regulation, integrated regulation and intrinsic motivation. All of these different categories of motivation will be identified in relation to perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. Perceived competence is a unitary concept and will therefore be compared to the various types of motivation. As mentioned in the literature review, goal orientations consist of ego orientation and task orientation, which will both be compared to the various types of motivation. The same will be done for mind sets which consist of fixed mind sets and growth mind sets.

Table 9

	Means	Std. Dev.	Amot.	Ext. Reg.	Introj. Reg.	Id. Reg.	Integ. Reg.	IM	ТО	EO	IMI-PC	FM	GM
Amot.	7.47	4.27	1.00	0.02	0.09	-0.09	-0.24*	-0.26*	-0.18*	0.02	-0.26*	0.09	-0.19*
Ext.	14.82	5.41	0.02	1.00	0.59*	0.55*	0.50*	0.47*	0.30*	0.35*	0.39*	-0.23*	0.26*
Reg.													
Introj. 1	6.07	5.36	0.09	0.59*	1.00	0.50*	0.46*	0.43*	0.32*	0.24*	0.27*	-0.09	0.25*
Reg.													
Id.	19.81	4.44	-0.09	0.55*	0.50*	1.00	0.71*	0.62*	0.40*	0.11	0.41*	0.00	0.48*
Reg.													
Integ.	20.16	5.22	-0.24*	0.50*	0.46*	0.71*	1.00	0.69*	0.50*	0.13	0.57*	0.03	0.46*
Reg.													
IM	21.07	4.16	-0.26*	0.47*	0.43*	0.62*	0.69*	1.00	0.53*	0.17*	0.48*	-0.02	0.42*
ТО	4.14	0.57	-0.18*	0.30*	0.32*	0.40*	0.50*	0.53*	1.00	0.16*	0.40*	-0.02	0.53*
EO	1.94	0.73	0.02	0.35*	0.24*	0.11	0.13	0.17*	0.16*	1.00	0.27*	-0.31*	-0.01
IMI-PC	4.97	1.00	-0.26*	0.39*	0.27*	0.41*	0.57*	0.48*	0.40*	0.27*	1.00	-0.11	0.33*
FM	15.17	3.58	-0.09	-0.23*	-0.09	0.00	0.03	-0.02	-0.02	-0.31*	-0.11	1.00	0.15*
GM	19.54	2.71	-0.19*	0.26*	0.25*	0.48*	0.46*	0.42*	0.53*	-0.01	0.33*	0.15*	1.00

The relationships that exist between motivation, perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets

Note. Abbreviations may be interpreted as follows. Amot. = Amotivation; Ext. Reg. = External regulation; Introj. Reg. = Introjected regulation; Id. Reg. = Identified regulation; Integ. Reg. = Integrated regulation; IM = Intrinsic motivation; TO = Task orientation; EO = Ego orientation; IMI-PC = Intrinsic Motivation Inventory- Perceived competence subscale; FM = Fixed mind set; GM = Growth mind set.

*p < 0.05

Table 9 on the previous page illustrates the inferential statistics that were calculated as part of this research. It demonstrates the relationships that exist between a variety of motivational constructs as well as perceived competence and goal orientation and mind set constructs.

The correlations and relationships above that were investigated will be interrogated in terms of the type of relationship that is demonstrated and whether it is positive or negative. In order to do this, the first step will be to identify which relationships have been identified as significant during the Pearson's Correlation Co-efficient analysis. The significant relationships are the ones which have been demarcated with an asterisk. This figure indicates how reliable the result is and represents the strength of relationships between the variables. The figure marked by an asterisk indicates that the r value which represented the level of significance as significant and reliable. The values in the table refer to the correlations that exist between the two variables in question. It is important to note that figures running diagonally through Table 9 indicate intracorrelations and therefore score as 1.00, indicating a perfect positive relationship. Figures on the table will range from 1.00 to -1.00, with -1.00 representing a perfect negative correlation. Positive figures demonstrate a positive relationship and negative figures demonstrate a negative relationship. The findings below will be explained in terms of expected results and interesting findings, based on literature that has been covered for this research and will be explained in further depth in the discussion chapter.

4.4 Motivation and Perceived Competence, Goal Orientations and Mind sets

The main correlations that will be of interest are those that indicate significant relationships with the motivational factors. With the topic in mind, this dissertation investigated the relationships that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets on the motivation to participate in sports at university. This is a clear indication that the main focus was in relation to the correlations that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with motivation. Once the main comparisons have been identified, further relationships can be unpacked as these concepts were selected as a study of this nature has never been conducted before, but various studies have used individual factors from this study. This means that there should be relationships between the other factors that will be explained in the section.

With a general view over the results, it appears that there are significant correlations that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. The findings that will be discussed are in relation to amotivation. The r value demonstrating the relationship between

amotivation and task orientation was -0.18 indicating a significant negative relationship, and almost no relationship at all with ego orientation. The strongest relationship (r=-0.26), which is demarcated by an asterisk in Table 9, existed between perceived competence (IMI Total) and amotivation, which indicates a negative and weak correlation between the two variables. This means that individuals who lacked motivation generally showed a lack of perceived competence. The relationship between amotivation and self-theory/mind sets is generally significant and negative, but the relationship with the growth mind set of the population demonstrated a very weak negative correlation with an r value of -0.19. This finding meant that people who lacked motivation did not show a general desire to develop their knowledge or improve.

4.4.1 Motivation.

4.4.1.1 External regulation.

External regulation is the next form of motivation that will be explored, it represents externalised form of motivation whereby external means are used as motivation to complete a task or an activity (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The general findings for the relationships that were identified were mostly expected. It was identified that there was basically no relationship (r=0.02) that existed between amotivation and external regulation. It was demonstrated that there were significant positive relationships between external regulation and the other styles of motivation. The stronger relationships were noted in the types of motivation that are characterised by greater amounts of extrinsic motivation, with the strength of the relationships decreasing gradually as extrinsic motivation decreased. It was found that the r value that illustrated the relationship between external regulation and introjected regulation was 0.59, whilst the score for intrinsic motivation was 0.47. These scores indicate that external regulation has moderate relationships with the variables along the continuum of motivation. The relationship between external regulation and goal orientations was slightly stronger with rvalues of 0.3 and 0.35 for task orientation and ego orientation respectively. There was a significant positive relationship (r=0.39) between external regulation and perceived competence. There were significant relationships that were demonstrated for both mind sets, however, external regulation was found to have a significant negative relationship (r=0.23) with fixed mind sets while there was a significant positive relationship (r=0.26) with growth mind sets. Despite these results being significant and positive, they do illustrate weak relationships between the variables.

4.4.1.2 Introjected regulation.

Introjected regulation refers to the internalisation of an external motivation (Inoue et al., 2015; Ntoumanis, 2001; Pelletier et al., 1995, 2001; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The results indicate that there is no significant relationship (r=0.09) between introjected regulation and amotivation. The strongest relationship that exists between all the variables was with external regulation, demonstrated by a moderate, positive relationship (r=0.59). Once again, as the amount of extrinsic motivation decreased in the type of motivation, the strength of the relationship also decreased slightly, with intrinsic motivation demonstrating a significant, positive relationship of 0.43. Introjected regulation saw the exchange in strength of variables and relationships with goal orientations. The results indicated that there was a stronger significant relationship with task orientation than ego orientation, despite both being significant and positive. The r values were 0.32 and 0.24 respectively. The results also indicated a significant positive relationship (r=0.27) with perceived competence. A non-significant, negative relationship was found with fixed mind sets, but a positive relationship (r=0.25) with growth mind sets.

4.4.1.3 Identified regulation.

Identified regulation is the next type of motivation that will be compared to the other variables. Identified regulation refers to when an individual is able to identify with the perceived importance of a task, but does not receive inherent pleasure from the task (Ryan & Deci, 2000). It is with this variable that a negative relationship is noted along the motivational continuum, all be it non-significant (r=-0.09). Moderate, significant, positive relationships are demonstrated with external regulation and introjected regulation with r values of 0.55 and 0.5 respectively. The strongest relationship exists with integrated regulation (r=0.71), closely followed by intrinsic motivation (r=0.62). These both indicate strong, positive relationships between the variables. Both task orientation and ego orientation illustrate positive relationships with identified regulation, but only task orientation demonstrates a significant, moderate, positive relationship (r=0.40). Perceived competence also demonstrates a significant, moderate, positive relationship (r=0.41) with identified regulation. The results show that there is no relationship between integrated regulation and fixed mind sets, but there is a significant, moderate positive relationship (r=0.48) that exists between this variable and growth mind sets.

4.4.1.4 Integrated regulation.

This section explains the relationships that were demonstrated between integrated regulation and the various other variables that were measured. Integrated regulation refers to a type of motivation where the individual begins to embrace identified regulations (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

There is only one significant negative relationship (r=-0.24) that exists with other motivation variables, and it is with amotivation. External regulation and introjected regulation illustrate significant, moderate, positive relationships with this variable, with r values of 0.5 and 0.46 respectively. Identified regulation and intrinsic motivation have strong, positive, significant relationships with integrated regulation with scores of 0.71 and 0.69 respectively. Task orientation had a moderate, positive and significant relationship (r=0.50) with integrated regulation showed a non-significant relationship. Perceived competence was also found to have a significant, positive relationship (r=0.57) with this variable that was moderate. When correlated with mind sets, there was a non-significant relationship between integrated regulation and fixed mind sets, but a moderate, positive and significant relationship with growth mind sets with a r value of 0.46.

4.4.1.5 Intrinsic motivation.

Intrinsic motivation was the final motivational construct along the continuum that was compared with the other variables in the study. Intrinsic motivation refers to motivation to do a task out of the inherent pleasure that the task gives the individual (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Once again, amotivation was the only variable that had a significant, negative relationship (r= -0.26) with the variable of interest. There was a general trend that as the motivational constructs moved further along the continuum towards intrinsic motivation the strength of the relationship with intrinsic motivation increased, external regulation: r=0.47, introjected regulation: r=0.43, identified regulation: r=0.62 and integrated regulation: r=0.69. There were significant and positive relationships for both task orientations and ego orientations, although task orientations demonstrated a more moderate relationship (r=0.53) with intrinsic motivation than ego orientations (r=0.17). There was also found to be a moderate relationship (r=0.48) between this variable and perceived competence. There was also a moderate, positive and significant relationship between intrinsic motivation and growth mind sets, demonstrating a score of 0.42.
4.4.1.6 Summary.

The general findings from this section indicate that certain variables have stronger relationships with certain types of motivation than others. The findings show that as the type of motivation progresses closer to intrinsic motivation, there is generally a stronger relationship between motivation and the specific variable. This is with the exception of ego orientation and fixed mind sets, due to the fact that characteristically the concepts are quite different to intrinsic motivation. This was demonstrated with task orientation with the correlations varying from -0.18-0.53, generally increasing as the categories were categorised by more intrinsic motivation. The results for ego orientation were mixed and did not show any specific pattern. The scores indicating the relationships between motivation and perceived competence varied between -0.26-0.57. The score peaked at the relationship with integrated regulation. The findings for the relationships that existed between fixed mind sets and motivation were once again inconsequential due to the fact that they were inconsistent. These variables also showed few significant relationships and at times no relationships at all. The final area of interest is the relationship that exists between motivation and growth mind sets. The results of this study indicate that scores range from -0.19-0.48. Once again, the general trend was that as more intrinsic motivation was involved in the specific type of motivation, the stronger the relationship became. Although, the score did peak between identified regulation and integrated regulation with r values of 0.48 and 0.46 respectively.

4.5 Perceived Competence, Goal Orientations and Mind sets

This section of the chapter will attempt to investigate the significant relationships that were identified to exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. This section has been included, not as the main aim of the study, but rather in an attempt to identify that these variables do have similarities and to show that relationships exist between them. It will indicate that relationships exist between these variables. The main aim is to further develop research in this area and support current findings that have been identified.

4.5.1 Goal Orientations.

4.5.1.1 Task orientation.

Task orientation is the first variable that will be explored in relation to the other variables that were used for the study. It can be seen from Table 9 that task orientation demonstrates significant, moderate and positive relationships with perceived competence and growth mind

sets. The results of these relationships were 0.4 and 0.53 respectively. A significant but very weak and positive relationship (r=0.16) exists between task orientation and ego orientation. In addition it can be noted that there is a non-significant, negative relationship between task orientation and fixed mind sets as these concepts are polar in description of characteristics as demonstrated in the literature review.

4.5.1.2 Ego orientation.

Moving onto the next variable that was measured, this research investigates the relationships that ego orientation had with the various other variables. Table 9 demonstrates that ego orientation had a significant, but weak relationship (r=0.27) with perceived competence. The relationship with task orientation was been elaborated upon above (r=0.16). Another significant relationship that was identified was the relationship that exists between ego orientation and fixed mind sets. This demonstrated a significant, negative and weak relationship (r=-0.31) between the two variables. Ego orientation was also found to have next to no relationship (r=-0.01) with growth mind sets.

4.5.2 Perceived competence.

The next variable that was measured according to Table 9 was perceived competence. The relationships that were identified between this variable and task/ego orientation have been discussed above. The relationships that exist between perceived competence and the remainder of the variables are as follows. Table 9 indicates that there is a significant, positive, but weak relationship (r=0.33) that exists between perceived competence and growth mind sets. This is contrary to fixed mind sets which were shown to have a non-significant, negative relationship with perceived competence that was very weak.

4.5.3 Mind sets.

The final constructs that will be discussed in this section of the results chapter pertain to the inferential statistics that were found in relation to mind sets. Table 9 indicates that fixed mind sets have a significant and positive relationship (r=0.15) with growth mind sets, it should however be noted that this relationship is very weak. The relationships between mind sets and the various other constructs have been discussed above.

The construct of mind sets was measured as the two variables of fixed mind sets and growth mind sets, but it was also measured as a unitary variable in relation to all of the variables. Mind sets as a unitary variable was not included in Table 9 as it was felt that the relationships between

growth and fixed mind sets with the other variables were more important. Despite this, a brief explanation of some of the findings shall be elaborated upon below.

This section will serve to discuss the significant findings that were uncovered in relation to mind sets. There is a significant relationship that is very weak and negative (r=-0.17) that exists between mind sets and amotivation. It was noted that identified and integrated regulation, as well as task orientation elicited weak relationships that were positive with mind sets. These three variables had r values of 0.28. An r value of 0.22 was found for the relationship that existed between intrinsic motivation and mind sets. This indicates a weak, but positive relationship between the two variables. Contrary to this ego orientation indicated a significant, weak and negative relationship (r=-0.23) that exists between the two variables. Significant relationships were found between mind sets and fixed and growth mind sets. It was noted that there was a significant, very strong positive relationship (r=0.83) that existed between mind sets, although it was not as strong. The r value for growth mind sets was 0.68, which is still positive and demonstrates a strong relationship between the two variables.

4.6 Conclusion

The above results were based on the data collection and data analysis that was discussed in the methodology chapter of this research. This chapter served to give an overview of the results that were found as part of this research. The results were collated in an attempt to answer the research questions and aims that were discussed at the outset of the dissertation.

The findings in this chapter serve to indicate that there are relationships that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with motivation to participate in sports at a university level. The general findings indicate that there are significant relationships that exist between motivation and perceived competence. The findings show that the strongest relationships exist between integrated regulation and intrinsic motivation, which lie more towards the intrinsically motivated end of the motivation continuum. The findings also indicate that task orientation demonstrates stronger relationships with motivation than ego orientation does. These findings give a sense of how motivation, especially intrinsic forms of motivation relate to goal orientations, particularly task orientation which is also perceived to be more conducive to performance. It is shown in Table 9 that task orientation shows its strongest relationships with intrinsic motivation and perceived competence. When looking at findings pertaining to mind sets, the results indicate that growth mind sets have more significant

relationships with the other variables measured in this study than fixed mind sets. It is shown in Table 9 that growth mind sets demonstrates strongest relationships with identified regulation, integrated regulation and task orientation. Once again these findings demonstrate how more intrinsically regulated forms of motivation are related to another concept (growth mind sets) that is useful for performance in sport. Aside from this, it is also seen that a strong relationship is held with mind sets as a unitary variable.

The next chapter will serve to discuss the results in further depth and uncover the pertinence of the findings. This will be done through the use of examples from previous literature as well as making an attempt to indicate why the results that have been found are important to the current study.

CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS

5.1 Introduction

The next chapter of this dissertation will discuss the findings of the research that was conducted in order to answer the research questions. This will be done by using the results to explain how they answer the research questions. This chapter will not discuss all of the findings from the research, it will discuss those that were mentioned in the previous chapter, focussing particularly on those that were identified as significant. In addition to this, literature will be used in order to support or contest the findings of the research. If findings from this research do not match those in previous literature, it is the hope that there will be enough support in order to justify the findings of this research. The use of other literature will also give context to the findings of this research and may allow for various alternative perspectives to be assumed when discussing the results. This is an important part of the discussion as it allows for a holistic perspective to be taken on the current research as well as the existing research within the field that explores and investigates similar concepts. Previous literature allows for various interpretations of the results found to be made. This chapter is the main part of the discussion that justifies the importance of the research and indicates whether the methods and analysis were appropriate to adequately answer the research questions.

A review of the research questions will follow in order to identify the direction that the chapter will take, but also in an effort to act as a reminder of the purpose of the research. The main research question that this research has endeavoured to answer is:

• What is the relationship between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets on the motivation to participate in sports at university, if any exist at all?

In addition to this, the relationships between all variables have also been calculated and analysed too. Therefore additional research questions will explore the relationships that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. These relationships have been outlined in the previous results chapter which explained the findings of this research. The interpretive nature of this chapter will allow for the results to be elaborated upon in further depth. This chapter will also delineate some of the limitations and successes that were experienced in conducting this research. Recommendations for future research will also be proposed in the latter stages of the chapter.

The questionnaires that were used to obtain data for this research included the SMS-6, which was used to measure the various constructs of motivation. The perceived competence sub-scale of the IMI was used to measure perceived competence. The TEOSQ was used to measure the levels of task and ego orientation and the final questionnaire used was the Self-theory Questionnaire which measured the levels of growth and fixed mind sets within the participants. These questionnaires were conducted on a sample of 212 participants from Rhodes University in South Africa. All participants were bona fide students participating in various levels and types of university sport. Other demographic variables that were included in the questionnaires were not considered pertinent for the purpose of this study. A review of the data however indicates that 64.15% of the population were males. The average age of the sample was 20.97 years of age. Black, coloured, white and Indian groups were represented within the population. These participants were invited from a variety of sports including rugby, hockey, netball, athletics, rowing, soccer, basketball and cricket. If at any stage in the discussion, these variables are found to be of importance, they will be elaborated upon appropriately.

As previously mentioned, the next section of this chapter will look to further clarify and describe the results that were mentioned in the previous chapter. This will be done with the aid of various literature.

5.2 Relationships with motivation

This part of the discussion was the main focus of the study and will therefore further describe the relationships that perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets had with motivation. What is important to note is that motivation was not used in this study as a unidimensional concept, but rather as a multi-dimensional concept that can be measured along a continuum (Ntoumanis, 2001; Standage et al., 2003). Motivation, as proposed by Deci and Ryan (1985b), is viewed along a continuum for the current study. This continuum provides the foundations for SDT, which consists of different types of motivation based on various characteristics demonstrated by individuals (Deci & Ryan, 1985b). Due to this, the three factors that are being described in relation to motivation could demonstrate interactions with a variety of different types of motivation. Despite this, the literature seems to indicate that these variables should show relationships with certain types of motivation, which is similar to the findings of this research.

General research into this area indicates that the following relationships exist. It has been posited that there are relationships between perceived competence and motivation, despite

inconsistent findings, general consensus seems to agree that perceived competence is a strong predictor of intrinsic motivation specifically (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Georgiadis et al., 2001; Wang & Biddle, 2003). In relation to goal orientations, the general consensus that the characteristics associated with task orientations and ego orientations tend to assimilate intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation respectively (Duda, 1998; Georgiadis et al., 2001; Wang & Biddle, 2003). The general trend of literature delineating the links between mind sets and motivation tends to indicate, albeit limited that fixed mind sets can be seen to predict amotivation (Biddle et al., 2003). The characteristics associated with growth mind sets are similar to those associated with intrinsic motivation and therefore it is believed that links can be made between these two concepts (Dweck, 2007).

5.2.1 Motivation and perceived competence.

As mentioned above literature alludes to the fact that perceived competence is a strong predictor of motivation, more specifically intrinsic motivation (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Georgiadis et al., 2001; Wang & Biddle, 2003). Perceived competence is one of the characteristics that must be satisfied for an individual to become self-determined and therefore it is apparent why it would be included as a variable in this study and the prior statement holds truth. Mouratidis et al. (2008) also state that perceived competence is pivotal in the quantification of motivation and the expression of self-determination. The findings explored this relationship in further depth will now be explained in further depth.

The most significant relationship that was demonstrated amongst the various categories of motivation was integrated regulation, which demonstrated a moderate, positive relationship (r=0.57) with perceived competence. The next most significant relationship that was demonstrated between perceived competence and the differing types of motivation was with intrinsic motivation, which also demonstrated a moderate, positive relationship (r=0.48). This is in support of the literature indicating that perceived competence should demonstrate positive relationships with types of motivation that are characterised by greater amounts of intrinsic motivation (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Georgiadis et al., 2001; Wang & Biddle, 2003). Wang and Biddle (2003) identified in their research that perceived competence influences intrinsic motivation to participate in sport. Similarities could be drawn between these findings and the current findings as intrinsic motivation poses an inherent desire to participate in sport, although this was not exactly what was investigated in this research.

Literature suggests that intrinsic motivation is the only type of motivation that is entirely characterised by intrinsic motivation (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). To contextualize this, all other forms of motivation are comprised of varying amounts of extrinsic motivation (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). This could therefore serve as a justification for the unexpectedness of a strong relationship of integrated regulation with perceived competence, as by definition, it possesses an element of extrinsic motivation (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). This finding is supported by Georgiadis et al. (2001) whose research indicated that self-worth often develops from contingent external criteria, which in the case of this research could be compared to extrinsic motivation. However, due to the fact that motivation has been described along a continuum for the duration of this dissertation, it may also be argued that integrated regulation is the type of motivation that possesses the most intrinsic motivation aside from intrinsic motivation itself. Therefore this finding may be expected, but significant in the way that it was not intrinsic motivation itself that demonstrated the strongest relationship with perceived competence.

A somewhat unexpected finding that was uncovered from this relationship was that which existed between perceived competence and external regulation. This relationship was found to not only be positive, but also on the borderline of having moderate strength (r=0.39). It could be argued that this finding was unexpected due to the fact that it is towards the opposite end of the continuum that is associate with extrinsic motivation. Therefore this contradicts the findings of Mouratidis et al. (2008) and Milavic et al. (2010) who indicated that perceived competence is generally associated and has stronger relationships with types of motivation that exist further along the continuum towards intrinsic motivation. However, Mouratidis et al. (2008) do allude to the fact that perceived competence should have a negative relationship with amotivation, which is demonstrated in the results with r=-0.26. This can be explained in relation to the other findings by the fact that they exist along a continuum. Amotivation, however does also exist along the continuum, but is characterised by a lack of motivation (Pelletier et al., 1995; Pelltier et al., 2001; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). As mentioned above however, Georgiadis et al. (2001) measured perceived competence as perceived self-worth. They stated that it can be developed from external criteria (Georgiadis et al., 2001). This provides support for relationships that are characterised by extrinsic motivation and have relationships with perceived competence.

Aside from the findings that have been discussed above, the results were consistent with previous literature and therefore contribute in a meaningful way due to the fact that there is

limited research in this area. The findings were consistent with literature in that the relationships increased and decreased as expected relative to the various types of motivation. Demonstrating stronger and more positive relationships with greater amounts of intrinsic motivation and vice versa. The next section of this chapter will explore the relationships that exist between motivation and another variable that was measured as part of this research project, that being motivation.

5.2.3 Motivation and goal orientations.

The next findings that will be discussed are those that relate to motivation and goal orientations. Papaioannou et al. (2006) state that there are strong relationships that exist between motivation and goal orientations. These findings are further supported in literature by a wide variety of researchers (Biddle, Soos, & Chatzisarantis, 1999; Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; McManus, 2004; Milavic et al., 2010, Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Standage et al., 2003; Standage & Treasure, 2002; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Williams, 1994). Goal orientations present themselves as either task or ego orientations which refer to situations where individuals seek to demonstrate improvements in skill or learning of certain techniques or where an individual seeks to demonstrate superiority over peers respectively (Georgiadis et al., 2001; McManus, 2004; Papaioannou et al., 2006; Potgieter, 2011; Wang & Biddle, 2003). As the concept of goal orientations is divided into two categories, task orientation will be discussed in relation to motivation, followed by ego orientation.

It is interesting to note that based on definitions from the review of literature that task orientation would be more closely related to intrinsic motivation than ego orientation or extrinsic motivation (Biddle et al., 1999; Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Kimiecik & Horn, 2012; McManus, 2004; Milavic et al., 2010, Ntoumanis, 2001; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Stey, 2010; Standage et al., 2003; Standage & Treasure, 2002; Wang & Biddle, 2003; Williams, 1994). The results from this particular study indicate that there is a proportional relationship that exists between task orientation and the various types of motivation as the levels of intrinsic motivation increase/decrease. What is meant by this statement is that as motivation progresses along the continuum from extrinsic motivation to intrinsic motivation, the strength of the relationship increases. In simple terms, the more intrinsic motivation present in a given type of motivation will result in a stronger relationship with task orientations.

5.2.3.1 Motivation and task orientation.

All of the relationships that were investigated between task orientations and motivation were found to be significant, ranging from positive and moderate to negative and very weak. A few results will be used to demonstrate the findings from this section of the research in order to illustrate how levels of motivation increase/decrease proportionally in relation to task orientation. The strongest relationship that was demonstrated, existed between task orientation and intrinsic motivation. A relationship of r=0.53 was found. This finding is supported by the research conducted by Wang and Biddle (2003), Papaioannou et al. (2006) who state that task orientations are often related to intrinsic motivation. A result that was seen in the middle of the range of results was the relationship between task orientation and introjected regulation, which demonstrated a weak, but positive relationship. The r value for this relationship was found to be 0.32. The weakest relationship that was demonstrated was that between task orientation and amotivation where r=-0.18, demonstrating a very weak, negative relationship between these two variables. Standage and Treasure (2002) state that task orientated individuals often show stronger relationships with more self-determined forms of motivation and ego orientation demonstrates relationships with forms of motivation that are less self-determined. These findings in particular support the findings of this research.

The above findings fit well with the relationships that literature proposes should exist. Duda and Nicholls (1992) state that individuals who are task orientated thrive on exerting effort and believe that successful completion of a task is as a result of mastery. These individuals do not mind making mistakes and embrace challenges, and view success and progress as a self-referenced norm (McManus, 2004; Potgieter, 2011; Wang & Biddle, 2003). These characteristics are similar to those of intrinsic motivation and therefore could provide reason for the proportional relationships that were exhibited in relation to intrinsic motivation. With this is mind, a review of the characteristics of intrinsic motivation include the internal desire to complete a task with no separable reward, satisfaction gained from attempting a task and opportunities to improve specific aspects of their skill resulting in mastery (Ntoumanis, 2001; Pelletier et al., 1995, 2001; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Standage et al., 2003). Based on the above descriptions of the two concepts, it becomes apparent why there is a proportional relationship that exists between task orientation and the various types of motivation. It indicates why intrinsic motivation present decreases, the strength of the relationship with task orientation does too, and vice versa.

5.2.3.2 Motivation and ego orientation.

Based on the above definitions of task orientation and intrinsic motivation, the natural assumption would be that ego orientation would demonstrate strong relationships with motivation that is characterised by greater levels of extrinsic motivation. The results indicate a trend that is similar to this however, the results are not as consistent with the trend as they were for intrinsic motivation. In addition to this, not all of the relationships were found to be significant. The only relationships that were found to be significant were external regulation, introjected regulation and intrinsic motivation. Amongst these three types of motivation, the proportional relationship that exists between motivation and ego orientation was apparent. The strength of the significant relationships shall be discussed below.

The most significant relationship that was demonstrated from this research was that which existed between ego orientation and external regulation. For this relationship, a positive, but weak relationship (r=0.35) was found between the two variables. The next most significant relationship was that which existed between ego orientation and introjected regulation. This relationship demonstrated a positive, but weak relationship (r=0.24). The weakest relationship that was still found to be significant existed with intrinsic motivation. The relationship was positive, but very weak (r=0.17).

As stated above, based on definitions of task orientation and intrinsic motivation, the relationships described above could be expected. In order to give more clarity to this, characteristics of ego orientation and extrinsic motivation shall be elaborated upon. Ego orientation refers to a style of goal orientation characterised by inter-personal competition and often rely on separable rewards as a source of affirmation for completing a task (Duda, 1998; Geogiadis et al., 2001; McManus, 2004). On the other hand, extrinsic motivation is characterised by actions that are controlled by the chance of pride or embarrassment and as a bi-product, separable rewards may be received (Pelletier et al., 1995; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Standage et al., 2003; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). Based on these descriptions of the characteristics possessed by the concepts in question, the nature of the relationships can be understood better. Much the same as the relationships between task orientation and intrinsic motivation, the relationship between ego orientation and extrinsic motivation is proportional and opposite. It is clear that the relationship is not as strong or consistent, but the significant findings do demonstrate the trend that is present. As mentioned above, the findings of Standage and Treasure (2002) support these findings in stating that ego orientations may be associated

with less self-determined forms of motivation. McManus (2004) also eludes to this fact as it was demonstrated that ego orientation is often associated with a performance climate as opposed to a mastery climate, which shares characteristics with extrinsic forms of motivation.

The findings that have been elaborated upon above are consistent with previous literature, but also provide insight into the relationships that exist between these variables. The relationship is by no means perfect or reciprocal. This could be attributed to the orthogonality of the overall concept of goal orientations. This means that ego orientation and task orientation are by no means opposite, but rather exist and can be experienced simultaneously (Papaioannou et al., 2006). The findings from this research indicate that ego orientation and task orientation can be experienced simultaneously and do not necessarily exist or occur in isolation. Therefore, the findings of this research support this claim as ego orientation and task orientation also demonstrate a significant relationship with one another (r=0.16). The relationship is very weak, but is positive and identified as significant, thus indicating that as one increases, the other also has the potential to increase. This data is unique to South African university students, but supports findings from previous research (Papaioannou et al., 2006; Potgieter, 2011).

Overall, from the above, we can conclude that task orientation can be seen to have a positive relationship with motivation. It should be noted that task orientation is most closely related to intrinsic motivation, and least related to amotivation. It may also be noted that ego orientation shows a similar trend to intrinsic motivation, without the same consistency. Despite this, ego orientation demonstrates the strongest relationship with external regulation and the weakest relationship with intrinsic motivation. From this point, the next set of relationships will be explored. The next section will look to discuss the relationships that exist between motivation and mind sets.

5.2.4 Motivation and Mind sets.

As stated in the literature review, there is limited research that has investigated the relationships between motivation and mind sets (Biddle et al., 2003; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). The aforementioned authors did make some conclusions regarding this relationship and therefore shall be referred to throughout this section. A review from the literature review, fixed mind sets refer to individuals who believe that skill/intelligence is fixed, avoid challenges, focus on performance goals and do not enjoy being challenged (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Potgieter, 2011). Individuals who possess growth mind sets are fairly distinct from those who possess fixed mind sets in as much as they believe that skill/intelligence is

changeable, they seek challenges, focus on improving ability, thereby focussing on process goals and enjoy being challenged (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Potgieter, 2011). This being said, it is only the characteristics that are distinct and an individual can share characteristics of both growth and fixed mind sets, illustrating the orthogonality of the concept (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Potgieter, 2011). Mind sets are also orthogonal in nature and are divided into two categories of growth mind sets and fixed mind sets which will be discussed in this order (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Potgieter, 2011).

Based on the definitions and descriptions provided above as well as the review of literature, the assumption would be that fixed mind sets would be related to amotivation or forms of extrinsic motivation and growth mind sets would be related to forms of intrinsic motivation (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Potgieter, 2011). The results indicate that there is little to no relationship between motivation and a fixed mind set, but various relationships between the different types of motivation and a growth mind set.

5.2.4.1 Motivation and growth mind sets.

The existing literature seems to focus more on the associations and relationships that exist between motivation and growth mind sets (Biddle et al., 2003; Potgieter, 2011). Based on this literature and the definitions and descriptions that have been given in this dissertation, an assumption develops that the growth mind set and motivation will have a relationship. The results that illustrate this relationship were mixed and not quite perhaps as expected, but it is important to remember that this study has used the SDT as a framework and therefore, the SDT views motivation along a continuum and this will be important to consider when interpreting the results.

As mentioned, growth mind sets demonstrated significant relationships with all forms of motivation. The most significant relationship (r=0.48) however was found between identified regulation and growth mind sets. In saying this, integrated regulation and intrinsic motivation did not differ much from these findings. These two forms of motivation had r values of 0.46 and 0.42 respectively. All of these three forms of motivation demonstrate positive and moderate relationships between motivation and growth mind sets. External regulation and introjected regulation showed similar findings too with r values of 0.26 and 0.25 respectively. These results demonstrate a weak, but positive relationship between the two variables. The final significant finding was between amotivation and growth mind sets which were found to have a very weak and negative relationship (r=-0.19) with one another. These findings are

concurrent with those previously found by Dweck (2008, 2010) where it was stated that growth mind sets are positively associated with self-determined forms of motivation. These findings are further supported by Wang and Biddle (2003) who state that growth mind sets demonstrate strong relationships with intrinsic motivation. This is sufficient to support the current findings due to the limited difference between intrinsic motivation and identified regulation as well as the fact that the results were not separated by a vast difference.

The above results may be expected. This may be said as growth mind sets share similar characteristics with motivation. The difference therein lies in the fact that SDT was used as the theoretical framework for this research. Therefore the difference between intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation exists. In saying this, the characteristics of growth mind sets are similar to those of intrinsic motivation (Biddle et al., 2003; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). The fact that SDT was used as the dominating framework for this research means that motivation as a concept can have varying levels of intrinsic motivation and extrinsic motivation, which could act as a potential reason for the findings (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

The fact that identified regulation shows the strongest relationship with growth mind sets may be slightly unexpected as it is not the most self-determined form of motivation, and by definition is characterised by more extrinsic motivation than intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999). In saying this, Ntoumanis (2001) states that it can be difficult to find tasks that exist within this category due to the mix of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. With this in mind, the next two strongest relationships that were identified were with forms of motivation that are characterised by greater amounts of intrinsic motivation. These two types of motivation were identified regulation and intrinsic motivation. Both of these types of motivation were found to have similar relationships to one another as well as integrated regulation. These two forms of motivation may perhaps be expected to have stronger relationships with growth mind sets due to the fact that they possess similar characteristics (Biddle et al., 2003; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999).

Introjected regulation and external regulation demonstrated weaker relationships with growth mind sets in comparison to the variables described above. This could possibly be due to the fact that as mentioned above, forms of motivation that are characterised by greater amounts of intrinsic motivation are more likely to be related to growth mind sets. These findings however

support the need for a continuum of motivation as even forms of motivation that are towards the extrinsic motivation end of the continuum may be characterised by some intrinsic motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). The final finding of amotivation demonstrating a weak, negative relationship with growth mind sets may be expected as by definition, these concepts are very different (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2007; Potgieter, 2011; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Vallerand & Losier, 1999).

Overall the results were mixed, but did support the need for a continuum of motivation as levels of intrinsic motivation may still be present even if an individual is extrinsically motivated. The finding of a negative relationship between amotivation and growth mind sets may be expected and typifies the opposite nature of amotivation and growth mind sets. The next section of this chapter will look to discuss how motivation and fixed mind sets relate to one another.

5.2.3.2 Motivation and fixed mind sets.

Overall, the results demonstrating the relationships that exist between motivation and fixed mind sets were mixed, with no particular pattern as may have been expected as elaborated upon above. Due to the fact that these results were mixed and perhaps not as expected, this section will discuss the significant finding that existed between external regulation and fixed mind sets. In addition, unexpected findings will also be discussed.

As mentioned above, the only significant result that was found for these two variables existed between a type of motivation that exists towards the extrinsic side of the motivation continuum and fixed mind sets. The strength of this relationship negative and weak (r=-0.23). This is contrary to what literature states in that Biddle et al. (2003) stated that fixed mind sets more often than not predict amotivation. This can be understood by considering the characteristics that are associated with both amotivation and fixed mind sets, as they are fairly similar. In addition to this, the fact that this is the only relationship that was found to be significant goes against what the limited literature suggests as well as the fact that fixed mind sets and growth mind sets demonstrated relationships with various types of motivation that fixed mind sets would too. This is also slightly unexpected due to the orthogonality of the mind sets construct in as much as it may be expected that as an individual can possess both fixed and growth mind sets that some of the relationships would be transferable from growth mind sets. The findings of the current research were supported by Dweck (2008, 2010) and Wang and Biddle (2003)

whose research indicated that fixed mind sets are associated with lower levels of selfdetermined motivation.

Based on the discussion above, it would be expected that fixed mind sets would also demonstrate significant relationships with various other types of motivation, primarily towards the extrinsic motivation end of the motivation spectrum. This would be based on the definitions of fixed mind sets and extrinsic motivation as proposed in the review of literature (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Potgieter, 2011; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000).

The other types of motivation all showed next to no relationship with fixed mind sets at all. As mentioned above, this is unexpected, but could perhaps demonstrate that the mind sets is not as orthogonal as literature presents it to be. These findings may also be attributed perhaps to the environment and may be unique to a South African university context. The result could perhaps demonstrate that there actually is no relationship at all between fixed mind sets and motivation and therefore could contribute to the existing literature, by filling an existing gap. This finding could be as a result of the fact that the sample showed a general trend towards task orientation which demonstrated no relationship with fixed mind sets, but proportional relationships with motivation. In addition the fact that the only significant relationship that exists is weak and negative (r=-0.23) may illuminate this fact further. Perhaps literature has not elaborated on this relationship for this specific reason, and this is supported by the fact that research conducted by Potgieter (2011) focussed solely on the growth mind set.

This section of the chapter uncovered the findings that exist between mind sets and motivation. This section seems to indicate that mind sets may not be as orthogonal as literature may propose they are. The results did indicate that there are moderate relationships that exist between growth mind sets and forms of motivation that are characterised by intrinsic motivation. Overall this research contributes meaningfully as there seems to be definite limitations in the existing literature, particularly in relation to fixed mind sets and motivation. The next section of this chapter will look to explore the inter-relatedness that exists between the other variables. These variables include perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. The relationships that exist between these variables will be discussed in order to address the research questions associated with this dissertation.

5.3 Conceptual Interrelatedness: The Discussion

The main purpose of the research has been addressed above by elaborating on the relationships that motivation has with perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. This section of the discussion chapter will look to answer the rest of the research questions. In doing so, the interactions that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets will be discussed. This shall be done firstly to make this a unique piece of research, but in addition to this, it will be done as there is limited research that has investigated these relationships, and therefore this will look to contribute to the void in existing literature. The first relationship that will be discussed will be between perceived competence and goal orientations, followed by perceived competence and mind sets and finally goal orientations and mind sets.

5.3.1 Perceived competence and goal orientations.

Literature has seemed to indicate that goal orientations may influence an individual's perception of competence based on the type of orientation exhibited (Kavussanu et al., 2011). Literature alludes to the fact that there may be relationships that exist between task orientation and higher levels of perceived competence and ego orientation with lower levels of perceived competence, but this was not measured as part of the current research (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Williams, 1994). The current research project simply sough to investigate whether there was a relationship between task orientation and ego orientation with perceived competence.

Both ego orientation and task orientation demonstrated positive and significant relationships with perceived competence. Task orientation however showed to have a moderate relationship (r=0.40) with perceived competence and ego orientation was found to have a weak relationship (r=0.27) with perceived competence. As explained above, perceived competence has been found in previous research to be a mediator between goal orientations and motivation and therefore supports the findings of the current research project which demonstrates relationships between the variables (Georgiadis et al., 2001; Wang & Biddle, 2003).

These relationships may be expected as there does not seem to be any literature that contradicts this (Duda & Nicholls, 1992; Williams, 1994). It is expected that task orientation would have a stronger relationship with perceived competence than ego orientation. Individuals seek tasks where they can learn, must exert effort and seek improvement (Williams, 1994). These findings were supported by Wang and Biddle (2003) who found similar findings, with task orientation demonstrating and stronger relationship with perceived competence than ego orientation, with ego orientation being found to have a weak relationship with perceived competence.

As mentioned the above findings were expected and have sought to address the shortcomings of the existing literature by contributing to existing research. The next part of this chapter will uncover and explain the findings that exist between perceived competence and mind sets.

5.3.2 Perceived competence and mind sets.

This is the second relationship that will be discussed as part of this section of the discussion chapter. The idea that a relationship is not as far-fetched as it may appear as Elliot & Dweck (2005) state that perceived competence is a concept that is necessary for an individual to develop and therefore can be related to mind sets an individual possesses. Elliot & Dweck (2005) elaborate upon this by stating that individuals who have a growth mind set seek to develop competence and those with a fixed mind set seek competence validation. There is a stark difference that exists between these two statements as one is internally referenced and the other is externally referenced, therefore indicating how the link to perceived competence may exist. This has been demonstrated through the results and it is the hope that the discussion of these results will further elaborate on this.

The results showed that fixed mind sets had a non-significant relationship with perceived competence, demonstrating a weak and negative relationship (r=-0.11). This was expected as mentioned above, as individuals who have fixed mind sets view intelligence as unchangeable and do not enjoy being challenged (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Potgieter, 2011; Vlachopoulos et al., 2000). This could therefore be perceived as being synonymous with low perceived competence or a lack of perceived competence. The important finding from this research was that growth mind sets were found to have a significant relationship with perceived competence. The relationship was found to be weak, but positive (r=0.33). This concurs with what literature suggests in as much as being orthogonal with fixed mind sets, growth mind sets share a relationship with perceived competence. These findings may indicate that mind sets are not as orthogonal as literature may perceive these concepts to be (Biddle et al., 2003; Dweck, 2000, 2007, 2008; Potgieter, 2011).

Overall these findings may be perceived as being expected with a non-significant relationship between fixed mind sets and perceived competence, and a contrasting relationship experienced between growth mind sets and perceived competence. Once again, the findings have shown that the concept of mind sets may not be perceived as orthogonal in the context of South African university students playing sports. The next section of this chapter may shed further light on the discussion of the orthogonality of mind sets, as the relationships between the two types of goal orientations will be explored against the two categories of mind sets.

5.3.3 Goal orientations and mind sets.

As demonstrated in the review of literature, these two concepts may possibly have more in common and demonstrate better relationships than they did with perceived competence. This may be as a result of the two concepts sharing similar, but not identical characteristics (Potgieter, 2011). This research has not replicated previous research, but findings from Potgieter and Steyn (2010) and Wang and Biddle (2003) have indicated that there are relationships between these variables, particularly between growth mind sets and task orientations. The findings of this research were mixed in the extent to which they were un/expected, and this shall be further elaborated upon below. The significant findings were expected for task orientation and growth mind sets, but not entirely for ego orientations and fixed mind sets. The results were as expected for the relationships that were discovered between ego orientations and growth mind sets as well as task orientations and fixed mind sets.

As mentioned, the relationships found between ego orientations and growth mind sets as well as task orientations and fixed mind sets, were expected. These results were non-significant and both showed almost no relationships with one another. On the other hand, ego orientations and fixed mind sets showed a negative, weak relationship (r=-0.31) with fixed mind sets. The other significant finding was the relationship that exists between task orientations and growth mind sets. This relationship was both positive and moderate (r=0.53). McManus (2004), as mentioned previously found associations between task orientation and mastery climates as well as ego orientation and performance climates. These findings may be assimilated to those found in this research as mastery climates are characterised by factors similar to growth mind sets and performance climates are characterised by factors similar to those that characterise fixed mind sets.

From the above findings, it was stated that the relationship between ego orientations and fixed mind sets was negative. This was unexpected, as previous research has indicated that there is a relationship between these two concepts (Wang & Biddle, 2003). Aside from this, the characteristics that were compiled in Table 8 referring to the two concepts were similar and therefore a positive relationship could be expected (Potgieter, 2011). The relationship that was demonstrated between growth mind sets and task orientation was expected and was aligned with what literature has previously found (Potgieter, 2011; Wang & Biddle, 2003). These

findings could possibly have been as a result of the characteristics that were compiled in Table 7 as well as definitions of the two concepts being so similar (Elliot & Dweck, 2005; McManus, 2004; Potgieter, 2011; Wang & Biddle, 2003).

The findings that were found in this section were enlightening as they supported some research that has been previously conducted. The results also demonstrated that understandings of these concepts and the relationships that exist between them may require further research in order to fully understand.

5.4 Summary

The findings that were discussed above have contributed to the existing body of literature and have also filled certain shortfalls in the existing literature. This section of the discussion chapter will look to summarise the findings of the research.

The results of the research were first obtained through the use of SMS-6, IMI-PC, TEOSQ and the Self-theory Questionnaire. The questionnaires were used in order to primarily investigate the relationships that exist between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with motivation. The questionnaires were conducted in a South African university sports context. Participants were required to respond to the questionnaires and these results were then compiled, analysed using Pearson's correlation co-efficient and interpreted. A summary of the findings shall be given below.

The main purpose of the research was to demonstrate the relationships that exist between motivation and perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. Firstly these relationships shall be summarised, followed by a summary of the inter-relatedness that exists between the other variables. A summary of these relationships will follow.

It was demonstrated that perceived competence showed relationships that were supported by literature with regards to the positive relationships elicited with amotivation, integrated regulation and intrinsic motivation. An unexpected finding that contradicted literature was the relationship with external regulation that was positive, where literature alludes to the fact that it should be a negative relationship. The next stage was the investigation of the relationships that exist between goal orientations and motivation. The relationships that existed between task orientations and motivation were all as were expected and were supported by literature. The same can be said for the relationships that were found between ego orientations and motivation. These findings support suggestions in literature regarding the orthogonality on the goal

orientations construct. The final relationships that were explored as the main part of the research were between mind sets and motivation. The relationships between the growth mind sets and motivation were all as expected and showed proportional relationships as levels of motivation progressed along the continuum. With regards to the relationships that were found between fixed mind sets and motivation, no distinct pattern was demonstrated. The findings did in some way support previous findings from literature, however the negative relationship that was demonstrated with amotivation was somewhat unexpected. These findings suggest that the concept of mind sets may not necessarily be orthogonal.

The inter-relatedness that was demonstrated between the other variables included in this research shall now be summarised. This has been included in this research as it has not been included in one single research project before as well as to contribute to the existing body of knowledge. The first relationship that will be summarised is that which exists between perceived competence and goal orientations. It was demonstrated that a positive relationship exists between both ego orientation and task orientation with perceived competence. The findings were expected to some extent as task orientation demonstrated stronger and more positive relationships with perceived competence than ego orientation.

The next relationship that shall be summarised as part of the inter-relatedness section is the relationships that were explored between perceived competence and mind sets. It was found that there were non-significant relationships between fixed mind sets and perceived competence and the contrary between perceived competence and growth mind sets. Both of these findings were supported by the previous literature that is sparse in nature.

The final relationships that shall be summarised as part of this section are between goal orientations and mind sets. No significant relationships were demonstrated between ego orientations and growth mind sets as well as task orientations and fixed mind sets. All of these relationships showed almost no relationships at all. These findings were expected and supported by literature. An unexpected finding that was found was between ego orientations and fixed mind sets. This relationship was negative, where literature proposes that these concepts should have a positive relationship. The final relationship that was explored was that between task orientations and growth mind sets. This relationship was negative, where literature proposes that these concepts should have a positive relationship. The final relationship that was explored was that between task orientations and growth mind sets. This relationship was positive and was expected as well as supported by previous findings.

Overall the findings of this research have provided insight into an area of research that still requires a vast amount of exploration. The unexpected findings can provide another perspective

from which to view these concepts. The expected findings mean that this area of research gains more credibility and the findings may be generalised to more settings. In addition to this, this research was conducted in a South African university context and therefore provides additional data for the field of research. It also means that research can be replicated in similar settings and comparisons can be made between various findings in the future.

CHAPTER 6 CLOSING THOUGHTS

6.1 Introduction

The final chapter of this research project is vital in order to give a review of the research that was conducted. This chapter is crucial as it will include limitations and successes as perceived by the researcher. The chapter will also include a section that will mention recommendations for the future. These sections are included in this chapter to give a reminder of the research that was conducted, but it is also done in the hope that it will assist in the development of research in this field. The limitations, successes and recommendations should allow readers to understand what went well and what did not go well. This is done in the hope that if the research should also demonstrate whether findings are reliable, valid, generalizable and credible.

This research was conducted as a void in literature was identified. This void existed in that firstly the four variables that were measured had never all been included in one research project and examined in such a manner before. The second way in which this research filled the void was that this research had not been conducted in a South African University context. These two factors meant that the research would shed light on the relationships that exist between the four variables of motivation, perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets. In addition, it gave insight into how these variables interact with one another in a South African university context.

The methodology that was utilised was used in previous research and was found to be suitable for the requirements of the current research (Elliot & Dweck, 2005; McManus, 2004; Pelltier et al., 1995; Potgieter & Steyn, 2010). Data was collected using pencil and paper methods. The researcher would attend the various sport practices and inform the potential participants of the research after which, if they agreed, they would sign informed consent forms and complete the four questionnaires (SMS-6, IMI-PC, TEOSQ and Self-theory Questionnaire). Once the questionnaires were complete, the researcher collected the completed questionnaires and proceeded with data collection. A number of sports were used in order to gain a representative sample from the university. The only inclusion criteria were age which was set at 18 to avoid ethical implications and that participants were required to be bona-fide students at Rhodes University. After data collection, the data was analysed using Pearson's correlation co-efficient in order to demonstrate the inferential relationships that existed between the variables. During data analysis, the findings were interrogated further and discussed, these findings shall be mentioned briefly as part of this chapter.

The research highlighted some expected findings as well as some unexpected findings which were elaborated upon in the discussion chapter. The research sought to investigate the relationship that exists between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets with motivation. It was highlighted that generally perceived competence demonstrated expected relationships with motivation, apart from the relationship with amotivation which was unexpected. The relationships between motivation and goal orientations were all expected and demonstrated the orthogonality of the goal orientations construct. Motivation and mind sets showed mixed relationships. Growth mind sets demonstrated expected relationships that did not follow any particular pattern. The findings demonstrated that this construct may not necessarily be orthogonal. The above provides a basic summary of the main findings of this research, but other research questions demonstrate the desire of this research to address the conceptual interrelatedness that exists between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets which shall be summarised below.

The relationships between perceived competence, goal orientations and mind sets were also explored and generally demonstrated expected relationships. Task orientations demonstrated more positive relationships with perceived competence than ego orientations did. Despite this, ego orientations still showed positive relationships with perceived competence. The relationships between perceived competence and mind sets were expected as growth mind sets were found to have significant relationships with perceived competence and fixed mind sets were found to have non-significant relationships with perceived competence. The final relationships that were explored were between mind sets and goal orientation. These relationships were found to have mixed results in that there were some expected and unexpected findings. The expected findings included the lack of relationships between ego orientations and growth mind sets as well as task orientations and fixed mind sets. It was also shown that task orientations and growth mind sets had a positive relationship and this was also expected. Despite this, the negative relationship between ego orientations and fixed mind sets was unexpected as explained in the discussion. From this point, the findings of this research can be used for comparison in future research. However, the limitations, successes and recommendations should be taken into consideration. These points shall be mentioned and discussed in further depth below.

6.2 Limitations and successes

It was thought that the research that was conducted for this project was successful. Despite this, it would be impossible to make the research credible without identifying the limitations and successes that were associated with the project. These points also allow for future research to develop the field and not encounter the same problems that this project experienced.

6.2.1 Successes.

The successes associated with this project were that it has filled certain shortcomings of the existing literature. It has addressed the issue of compiling research where all of the four variables are included in the same research project and analysed in relation to one another. The research also sought to fill an area of research in the context in which it was conducted. It was firstly done in a university context, which is an area that evidently needs to be addressed from the sparsity of research in this area. The context in which it was conducted was a South African context, which yet again has not been explored thoroughly and therefore the research can contribute to the porous field of evidence. Based on this, the methods that were used were suitable, but certain areas that were identified require improvement and have been discussed below. In addition, some concepts had varieties of questionnaires that could be utilised and others had very limited options. Therefore, it was considered a success that the researcher was able to identify questionnaires that were suitable for the research and did not experience many difficulties with the questionnaires during the whole research process.

6.2.2 Limitations.

As mentioned, it is important that the limitations and difficulties that were experienced as part of the research are identified. This will aid in the identification of the recommendations that should be noted for future research. The following limitations should be considered in conjunction with the methodological limitations that were outlined at the end of the methodology chapter. The first difficulty that was experienced was concerned with data collection. Data collection experienced difficulties due to the fact that the data was collected using pencil and paper techniques. This meant that the data collection was time consuming and it became difficult to complete the research within the time frame that was desired, although this did not have serious implications. The researcher physically attended the sessions to conduct the questionnaires which was demanding and therefore resulted in further time consumption. As the questionnaires were conducted at practice sessions, the data collection was sensitive to bad weather. If the weather was not good and windy or raining, it meant that the data collection had to be suspended for another time. A further issue that was encountered once was that of language barriers, this was only encountered on one occasion and therefore did not have a drastic outcome on the research. It was also managed due to the fact that there was an individual who was able to translate the questionnaires for the individual who did not understand.

Perceived competence was a difficult construct to suitably select a questionnaire for within this context. The difficulty was experienced for a variety of reasons such as a lack of research in the area, limited studies which utilised university populations and more focus on younger populations. This was evidenced by research conducted by Harter (1982) and Williams and Gill (1995), who both used children as the sample and used questionnaires that were tailored for younger populations. It was also noted by the researcher that perceived competence was a concept that appeared to be unitary from the questionnaire, therefore a scale which identifies differing levels of competence may be more suitable for future research.

A further limitation that should be noted is that the research was conducted in a South African, university context and can therefore only be generalised to these contexts. In saying this, comparisons can be made to various other settings where research is conducted in the future. With regard to the South African context, sports are generally only split into summer and winter sports and therefore this would need to be considered for future research as seasons differ and the terminology for when sports are played is different. Building on the idea of the South African context, it could be perceived that the sample did not truly reflect the demographic split that exists within South Africa and the university specifically. This could possibly have been due to bias from the researcher despite all efforts to avoid any sort of bias in selection. Despite this, it is still felt that the sample is able to represent the South African university context positively.

6.2.3 Recommendations.

Based on the limitations and difficulties that have been identified above, it is important that recommendations are suggested for future research so that similar difficulties are not

experienced. This is in an effort to advance the field of knowledge. The recommendations shall be discussed in a similar fashion to the way that they were described above.

The difficulties that were experienced with data collection can be overcome in a simple fashion by conducting the questionnaires online. This would mean that completion of questionnaires would not be reliant on ideal weather. It would also mean that the researcher would not be required to deal with the organisation of attending practices and would not experience the same time consuming demands that were experienced with the pencil and paper technique. Online data collection would also mean that transcription of results would be electronically conducted as opposed to addressing each questionnaire individually. This could also potentially allow for larger number of participants to be included in the research.

In order to develop this area of research, it would be vital that this research is replicated in other contexts. This could mean that university attending participants are utilised in a different country or it could mean that different age groups are compared to the university aged participants that were utilised for this research project. As a result of the differing names for seasons and times of the year when sports are played, perhaps listing all the months of the year for participants to check could be an alternative. These months could then be coded for the data analysis section. This was not a factor that was of importance for this particular research project, but it could be used in the future and therefore has been noted.

CHAPTER 7 REFERENCE LIST

Andersen, M. B. (2000). Doing Sport Psychology. Australia: Human Kinetics.

- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191-215. Retrieved from https://www.uky.edu/~eushe2/Bandura/Bandura1977PR.pdf
- Barnett, L. M., Morgan, P. J., van Beurden, E., & Beard, J. R. (2008). Perceived sports competence mediates the relationship between childhood motor skill proficiency and adolescent physical activity and fitness: a longitudinal assessment. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 5(1), 40. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-5-40
- Biddle, S. J., Wang, C. J., Chatzisarantis, N. L., & Spray, C. M. (2003). Motivation for physical activity in young people: Entity and incremental beliefs about athletic ability. *Journal of Sports Science*, *21*(12), 973–989. doi: 10.1080/02640410310001641377
- Biddle, S., Soos, I., & Chatzisarantis, N. (1999). Predicting physical activity intentions using goal perspectives and self-determination theory approaches. *European Psychologist*, 4(2), 83. doi: 10.1027//1016-9040.4.2.83
- Bong, M. (2004). Academic motivation in self-efficacy, task value, achievement goal orientations, and attributional beliefs. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 97(6), 287-298. doi: 10.3200/JOER.97.6.287-298
- Bruinsma, M. (2004). Motivation, cognitive processing and achievement in higher education. *Learning and Instruction*, 14(6), 549–568. doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2004.09.001
- Carpenter, P.J., & Yates, B. (1997). Relationship between achievement goals and the perceived purposes of soccer for semiprofessional and amateur players. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 19, 302-311. Retrieved from http://groups.jyu.fi/sporticus/lahteet/LAHDE 13.pdf
- Castillo, I., Tomás, I., Balaguer, I., Fonseca, A. M., Dias, C., & Duda, J. L. (2010). The Task and Ego Orientation in Sport Questionnaire: Testing for measurement invariance and latent mean differences in Spanish and Portuguese adolescents. *International Journal* of Testing, 10(1), 21–32. doi: 10.1080/15305050903352107
- Davey, G., Sterling, C., & Field, A. (2014). Complete Psychology. England: Routledge.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985a). The general causality orientations scale: Selfdetermination in personality. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 19(2), 109–134. Retrieved from http://selfdeterminationtheory.org/general-causality-orientations-scale/
- Deci, E., & Ryan, R. M. (1985b). *Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior*. New York: Plenum Press.
- Department of Sport and Recreation (2005). *Participation patterns in sport and recreation activities in South Africa: 2005 survey.* Department of Sport and Recreation: Republic of South Africa.
- Duda, J. L. (1998). Advances in sport and exercise psychology measurement. West Virginia: Fitness Information Technology.

- Duda, J. L., & Nicholls, J. G. (1992). Dimensions of achievement motivation in schoolwork and sport. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 84(3), 290-299. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.84.3.290
- Duda, J. L., & White, S. A. (1992). Goal orientations and beliefs about the causes of sport success among elite skiers. *Sport Psychologist*, 6, 334–334. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Joan_Duda/publication/229106923_Goal_Orient ations_and_Beliefs_About_the_Causes_of_Sport_Success_Among_Elite_Skiers/links /0912f50926ace12037000000.pdf
- Duda, J.L. (1989). Relationship between task and ego orientation and the perceived purpose of sport among high school athletes. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *11*, 318-335. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.836.1143&rep=rep1&type= pdf
- Duda, J.L., Chi, L., Newton, M. L., Walling, M. D., & Catley, D. (1995). Task and ego orientation and intrinsic motivation in sport. *International Journal of Sport Psychology*, 26, 40-63. Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1995-42241-001
- Duda, J.L., & Horn, H.L. (1993). Interdependencies between the perceived and self-reported goal orientations of young athletes and their parents. *Paediatric Exercise Science*, *5*, 234-241. Retrieved from http://www.humankinetics.com/acucustom/sitename/Documents/DocumentItem/8339 .pdf
- Durrheim, K., & Painter, D. (2006). Collecting quantitative data: Sampling and measuring. In Terre Blanche, M., Durrheim, K., & Painter, D. (2nd Ed.), Research in practice: Applied methods for the social sciences (pp. 131-159). Cape Town: UCT Press.
- Dweck, C. S. (2000). *Self-theories: Their Role in Motivation, Personality, and Development*. Philadelphia, PA: Taylor & Francis.
- Dweck, C. S. (2007). The perils and promises of praise. *Kaleidoscope, Contemporary and Classic Readings in Education, 12.* Retrieved from https://books.google.co.za/books?hl=en&lr=&id=QDwqACGdf0IC&oi=fnd&pg=PA 57&dq=perils+and+promises+of+praise&ots=9rln-oqkTf&sig=3JBM6rqKa5BqKt50JZhf39C_lXA
- Dweck, C. S. (2008). Can personality be changed? The role of beliefs in personality and change. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *17*(6), 391–394. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00612.x
- Dweck, C. S. (2009). Mindsets: Developing talent through a growth mindset. *Olympic Coach*, 21(1), 4–7. Retrieved from http://www.teamusa.org/~/media/USA_Volleyball/Documents/Resources/OlympCoac hMag_Win%2009_Vol%2021_Mindset_Carol%20Dweck.pdf
- Dweck, C. S. (2010). Mind-sets and equitable education. *Principal Leadership*, *10*(5), 26–29. Retrieved from http://www.epiconline.org/mind-sets-and-equitable-education/
- Dweck, C. S., & Leggett, E. L. (1988). A social-cognitive approach to motivation and personality. *Psychological Review*, 95(2), 256-273. Retrieved from http://www.unco.edu/cebs/psychology/kevinpugh/motivation_project/resources/dwec k_leggett88.pdf

- Eccles, J. S., & Harold, R. D. (1991). Gender differences in sport involvement: Applying the Eccles' expectancy-value model. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 3(1), 7–35. Retrieved from http://www.rcgd.isr.umich.edu/garp/articles/eccles91e.pdf
- Elliot, A. J., & Dweck, C. S. (2005). *Handbook of Competence and Motivation*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Elliott, E. S., & Dweck, C. S. (1988). Goals: an approach to motivation and achievement. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(1), 5-12. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.1.5
- Faye, C., & Sharpe, D. (2008). Academic motivation in university: The role of basic psychological needs and identity formation. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science/Revue Canadienne Des Sciences Du Comportement*, 40(4), 189-199. doi: 10.1037/a0012858
- Gagné, M. (2009). A model of knowledge-sharing motivation. *Human Resource Management*, 48(4), 571-589. doi: 10.1002/hrm.20298
- Georgiadis, M., Biddle, S., & Chatzisarantis, N. (2001). The mediating role of selfdetermination in the relationship between goal orientations and physical self-worth in Greek exercisers. *European Journal of Sport Science*, 1(5), 1–9. Retrieved from http://selfdeterminationtheory.org/SDT/documents/2001_GeorgiadisBiddleChatzi_EJ SS.pdf
- Greenwald, A. G., & Krieger, L. H. (2006). Implicit Bias: Scientific foundations. *California Law Review*, 94(4), 945-968. doi:10.15779/Z38GH7F
- Hagger, M. S., Chatzisarantis, N. L., Culverhouse, T., & Biddle, S. J. (2003). The processes by which perceived autonomy support in physical education promotes leisure-time physical activity intentions and behavior: a trans-contextual model. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(4), 784-795. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.95.4.784
- Hagger, M. S., & Chatzisarantis, N. L. (2009). Assumptions in research in sport and exercise psychology. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 10(5), 511-519. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2009.01.004
- Hanneman, R. A., Kposowa, A. J., & Riddle, M. D. (2012). *Basic Statistics for Social Research*. San Fransisco: John Wiley & Sons.
- Harter, S. (1982). The perceived competence scale for children. *Child Development*, 53(1), 87– 97. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1129640?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents
- Henderlong, J., & Lepper, M. R. (2002). The effects of praise on children's intrinsic motivation: a review and synthesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 128(5), 774-795. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.128.5.774
- Hesse-Biber, S. N. (2011). *The Handbook of Emergent Technologies in Social Research*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hewitt, J. (2007). Ethical components of researcher—researched relationships in qualitative interviewing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17(8), 1149–1159. doi: 10.1177/1049732307308305

- Inoue, Y., Wegner, C. E., Jordan, J. S., & Funk, D. C. (2015). Relationships Between Self-Determined Motivation and Developmental Outcomes in Sport-Based Positive Youth Development. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 27(4), 371–383. doi: 10.1080/10413200.2015.1010662
- Jha, A., S. (2014). Social Research Methods. India: McGraw Hill Education.
- Jordan, A. E., & Meara, N. M. (1990). Ethics and the professional practice of psychologists: The role of virtues and principles. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice,* 21(2), 107-114. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/19b8/7107c822db8c444690a965333072853fce16.pdf
- Kavussanu, M., & Harnisch, D. L. (2000). Self-esteem in children: Do goal orientations matter? British Journal of Educational Psychology, 70(2), 229–242. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Maria_Kavussanu/publication/12418107_Selfesteem_in_children_Do_goal_orientations_matter/links/0fcfd512564fa5daec000000.p df
- Kavussanu, M., White, S. A., Jowett, S., & England, S. (2011). Elite and non-elite male footballers differ in goal orientation and perceptions of parental climate. *International Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 9(3), 284–290. doi: 10.1080/1612197X.2011.614854
- Keeping, E. S. (1962). Introduction to Statistical Inference. New York: Dover Publications Inc.
- Kimiecik, J. C., & Horn, T. S. (2012). Examining the relationship between family context and children's physical activity beliefs: The role of parenting style. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 13(1), 10–18. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/257591928_Examining_the_relationship_be tween_family_context_and_children's_physical_activity_beliefs_The_role_of_parenting_style
- Kinnear, T. C., & Taylor, J. R. (1996). *Marketing Research: An Applied Approach*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Köseoglu, Y. (2013). An application of the Self-Determination Theory-academic motivations of the first-year university students for two successive years. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, *4*(3), 447-454. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.com/articles/An%20Application%20of%20the%20 Self.pdf
- Li, F., Harmer, P., & Acock, A. (1996). The task and ego orientation in sport questionnaire: construct equivalence and mean differences across gender. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 68,* 228-238. doi: 10.1080/02701367.1996.10607949
- Mabizela, S. (2015). Vice-Chancellor's Welcome. Retrieved April 27, 2016, from https://www.ru.ac.za/introducingrhodes/
- Mallett, C., Kawabata, M., & Newcombe, P. (2007a). Progressing measurement in sport motivation with the SMS-6: A response to Pelletier, Vallerand, and Sarrazin. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 8(5), 622–631. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2007.05.001

- Mallett, C., Kawabata, M., Newcombe, P., Otero-Forero, A., & Jackson, S. (2007b). Sport motivation scale-6 (SMS-6): A revised six-factor sport motivation scale. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 8(5), 600–614. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2006.12.005
- McManus, S. P. (2004). Relationship between collegiate track runners' achievement goal orientations and perceptions of motivational climate. University of Florida. Retrieved from http://purl.fcla.edu/fcla/etd/UFE0007261
- Milavić, B., Guć, D., & Miletić, D. (2010). The relations between types of motivation in sport and perceived sport competence. *Facta Universitatis-Series: Physical Education and Sport*, 8(1), 59–69. Retrieved from http://facta.junis.ni.ac.rs/pe/pe201001/pe201001-07.pdf
- Mindset Assessment Profile. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://schools.nyc.gov/NR/rdonlyres/9CFE0C88-2B48-4ED2-BF39-7D6D4E43CB15/0/MindsetAssessmentProfile.pdf
- Mouratidis, A., Vansteenkiste, M., Lens, W., & Sideridis, G. (2008). The motivating role of positive feedback in sport and physical education: Evidence for a motivational model. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 30(2), 240-268. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/b72a/996aaaa204a4ae5a7c7154e2fc8bf31507ef.pdf
- Murphy, M. C., & Dweck, C. S. (2015). Mindsets shape consumer behavior. Journal of Consumer Psychology, 26(1), 127–136. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2015.06.005
- Nederhof, A. J. (1985). Methods of coping with social desirability bias: A review. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 15(3), 263-280. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420150303
- Ntoumanis, N. (2001). Empirical links between achievement goal theory and selfdetermination theory in sport. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 19(6), 397–409. doi: 10.1080/026404101300149357
- Ostrow, A. C. (2002). *Directory of Psychological Tests in the Sport and Exercise Sciences, 2E*. Morgantown, USA: Fitness Information Technology.
- Papaioannou, A., Bebetsos, E., Theodorakis, Y., Christodoulidis, T., & Kouli, O. (2006). Causal relationships of sport and exercise involvement with goal orientations, perceived competence and intrinsic motivation in physical education: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 24(4), 367–382. doi: 10.1080/02640410400022060
- Pelletier, L. G., Fortier, M. S., Vallerand, R. J., Tuson, K. M., Briere, N. M., & Blais, M. R. (1995). Toward a new measure of intrinsic motivation, extrinsic motivation, and amotivation in sports: The Sport Motivation Scale (SMS). *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 17, 35–53. Retrieved from http://xa.yimg.com/kq/groups/25317129/1384418208/name/1995_PelletierFortierVall erandTuson SMS.pdf
- Pelletier, L. G., Rocchi, M. A., Vallerand, R. J., Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2013). Validation of the revised sport motivation scale (SMS-II). *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 14(3), 329–341. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.12.002
- Pelletier, L. G., Vallerand, R. J., & Sarrazin, P. (2007). The revised six-factor Sport Motivation Scale (Mallett, Kawabata, Newcombe, Otero-Forero, & Jackson, 2007): something old, something new, and something borrowed. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 8(5), 615– 621. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2007.03.006

- Potgieter, R. D. (2011). Goal orientation, the growth mindset and coping strategies for success and failure in competitive sport. University of Pretoria. Retrieved from http://www.repository.up.ac.za/handle/2263/30330
- Potgieter, R. D., & Steyn, B. J. (2010). Goal orientation, self-theories and reactions to success and failure in competitive sport. *African Journal for Physical, Health Education, Recreation* & *Dance,* 16(4). Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&profile=ehost&scope=site&autht ype=crawler&jrnl=11174315&AN=60228433&h=yHmhQ06N1w0QJbLOr98R%2F4 fEXMrnt3x8dKiC6WDonvIgDhXNWDThy5ELz9P7F%2BpXQ6E3z3dtHRz37WEX cRL7qw%3D%3D&crl=c
- Priester, J. R., & Petty, R. E. (2015). A research dialogue on mindsets. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 26(1), 125–126. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2015.06.016
- Reilly, T., & Korkusuz, F. (2008). Science and Football VI: The Proceedings of the Sixth World Congress on Science and Football. London: Routledge.
- Roberts, G. C. (1992). *Motivation in Sport and Exercise*. IL, USA: Human Kinetics Publishers, Inc.
- Rubin, A., & Babbie, E. R. (2009). *Essential Research Methods for Social Work* (2nd Ed.). USA: Cengage Learning.
- Ryan, R. M. (1995). Psychological needs and the facilitation of integrative processes. *Journal* of *Personality*, 63(3), 397–427. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1995.tb00501.x
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (1989). Bridging the research traditions of task/ego involvement and intrinsic/extrinsic motivation: Comment on Butler (1987). Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org/journals/edu/81/2/265/
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25(1), 54–67. doi: 10.1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Sanders, L. D. (2009). *Discovering Research Methods in Psychology: A Student's Guide*. West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Shaughnessy, J. J., Zechmeister, E. B., & Zechmeister, J. S. (2009). *Research Methods in Psychology* (8th Ed.). New York, USA: McGraw-Hill.
- Somekh, B., & Lewin, C. (2004). Research Methods in the Social Sciences. London: SAGE.
- Standage, M., Duda, J. L., & Ntoumanis, N. (2003). A model of contextual motivation in physical education: Using constructs from self-determination and achievement goal theories to predict physical activity intentions. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(1), 97-110. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.95.1.97
- Standage, M., Duda, J. L., & Ntoumanis, N. (2005). A test of self-determination theory in school physical education. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75(3), 411–433. doi:10.1348/000709904X22359
- Standage, M., & Treasure, D. C. (2002). Relationship among achievement goal orientations and multidimensional situational motivation in physical education. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 72(1), 87–103. Retrieved from

https://sdtheory.s3.amazonaws.com/SDT/documents/2002_StandageTreasure_BJEP.p df

- Struthers, C. W., Perry, R. P., & Menec, V. H. (2000). An examination of the relationship among academic stress, coping, motivation, and performance in college. *Research in Higher Education*, 41(5), 581–592. doi: 10.1023/A:1007094931292
- Terre Blanche, M., & Durrheim, K. (1999). *Research in Practice: Applied Methods for the Social Sciences*. South Africa: University of Cape Town Press.
- Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C., & Ntoumanis, N. (2007). A self-determination theory approach to the study of body image concerns, self-presentation and self-perceptions in a sample of aerobic instructors. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 12(2), 301–315. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1359105307074267
- Vallerand, R. J., & Losier, G. F. (1999). An integrative analysis of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation in sport. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 11(1), 142–169. doi; 10.1080/10413209908402956
- Van-Yperen, N. W., & Duda, J. L. (1999). Goal orientations, beliefs about success, and performance improvement among young elite Dutch soccer players. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 9(6), 358–364. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.1999.tb00257.x
- Vlachopoulos, S. P., Karageorghis, C. I., & Terry, P. C. (2000). Motivation profiles in sport: A self-determination theory perspective. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 71(4), 387–397. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2000.10608921
- Wang, C. J., & Biddle, S. J. (2003). Intrinsic motivation towards sports in Singaporean students: The role of sport ability beliefs. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 8(5), 515–523. Retrieved from http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/13591053030085004
- Weinberg, R. S., & Gould, D. (2011). Foundations of Sport and Exercise Psychology (5th Ed.). USA: Human Kinetics.
- Weinberg, R. S., & Gould, D. (2014). Foundations of Sport and Exercise Psychology (6th Ed.). USA: Human Kinetics.
- White, S. A., & Zellner, S. R. (1996). The relationship between goal orientation, beliefs about the causes of sport success, and trait anxiety among high school, intercollegiate, and recreational sport participants. *Sport Psychologist*, *10*, 58–72. Retrieved from http://fitnessforlife.org/AcuCustom/Sitename/Documents/DocumentItem/10783.pdf
- Williams, L. (1994). Goal orientations and athletes' preferences for competence information sources. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, 16(4), 416–430.
- Williams, L., & Gill, D. L. (1995). The role of perceived competence in the motivation of physical activity. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 17, 363–378. Retrieved from https://libres.uncg.edu/ir/uncg/f/D_Gill_Role_1995.pdf
- Wilson, P. M., Mack, D. E., & Grattan, K. P. (2008). Understanding motivation for exercise: a self-determination theory perspective. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne*, 49(3), 250-256. doi: 10.1037/a0012762
- Zahariadis, P. N., & Biddle, S. J. (2000). Goal orientations and participation motives in physical education and sport: Their relationships in English schoolchildren. *Athletic*

Insight: The Online Journal of Sports Psychology, 2(1), 1–12. Retrieved from https://www.athleticinsight.com/Vol2Iss1/EnglishPDF.pdf

CHAPTER 8 APPENDICES

8.1: Appendix A

RHODES UNIVERSITY

DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

AGREEMENT BETWEEN STUDENT RESEARCHER AND RESEARCH PARTICIPANT

I (participant's name) ______ agree to participate in the research project of (researcher's name) ______ on the relationships between goal orientations, mind sets and perceived competence on the motivation to participate in sports.

I understand that:

- 1. The researcher is a student conducting the research as part of the requirements for a Psychology Masters by Thesis degree at Rhodes University. The researcher may be contacted on g12n3580@campus.ru.ac.za. The research project has been approved by the relevant ethics committee(s), and is under the supervision of Mr. Gary Steele in the Psychology Department at Rhodes University, who may be contacted on <u>g.steele@ru.ac.za</u> / 0466038504.
- 2. The researcher is interested in gaining a quantitative understanding of the factors that may potentially affect students' motivation to participate in sports at Rhodes University. These factors include goal orientations, mind sets and perceived competence.
- 3. My participation will involve completing four questionnaires which will take no longer than 40 minutes I will be required to fill out various scales as truthfully as possible.
- 4. I may be asked to answer questions of a personal nature, but I can choose not to answer any questions about aspects of my life which I am not willing to disclose.
- 5. I am invited to voice to the researcher any concerns I have about my participation in the study, or consequences I may experience as a result of my participation, and to have these addressed to my satisfaction. *The Rhodes University counselling centre may be contacted for further support on 0466037070 although there should be no side effects to this study.*
- 6. I am free to withdraw from the study at any time however I commit myself to full participation unless some unusual circumstances occur, or I have concerns about my participation which I did not originally anticipate.
- 7. The report will consist of aggregated data, which condenses the findings of the study, while maintaining the confidentiality of participants. The report will be designed in such a way that it will not be possible to be identified by the general reader due to the statistical nature of the data collection and analysis. The report will also be made available for me to read upon completion of research.
Signed on (Date):

 Participant:

Researcher:

8.2: Appendix B

Please tick, circle or fill in the necessary requirements below. **Demographics** Gender: Male Female Other Age: Race: Sporting code currently participating in: Athletics: Rugby: Hockey: Soccer: Rowing: Netball: Cricket: Basketball: Other: Specify: Years of experience playing sport mentioned above: Accommodation: On campus: Off campus: Season of sport mentioned above: Winter: Summer: Other: Years at Rhodes University: Academic year of study:

CODE:

Reasons why you play sport at Rhodes University:

 DIRECTIONS: Using the scale below, please indicate to what extent each of the following items corresponds to one of the reasons for which you are presently practising your sport.

SMS-6

Does not correspond at all 1			
Corresponds a little	2-3		
Corresponds moderately	4		
Corresponds a lot		5	
Corresponds exactly	6-7		

Why do you practice your sport?

1. For the excitement I feel when I am really involved in the activity	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
2. Because it's part of the way in which I've chosen to live my life	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
3. Because it is a good way to learn lots of things which could be useful to me in other areas of my life	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
4. Because it allows me to be well regarded by people that I know	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
5. I don't know anymore; I have the impression of being incapable of succeeding in this sport	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
6. Because I feel a lot of personal satisfaction while mastering certain difficult training techniques	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
7. Because it is absolutely necessary to do sports if one wants to be in shape	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
8. Because it is one of the best ways I have chosen to develop other aspects of my life	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
9. Because it is an extension of me	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
10. Because I must do sports to feel good about myself	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
11. For the prestige of being an athlete	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
12. I don't know if I want to continue to invest my time and effort as Much in my sport anymore	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
13. Because participation in my sport is consistent with my deepest principles	1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Does not correspond at all	1	
Corresponds a little	2-3	
Corresponds moderately	4	
Corresponds a lot		5
Corresponds exactly	6-7	

14. For the satisfaction I experience while I am perfecting my abilities	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
15. Because it is one of the best ways to maintain good relationships with my friends	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
16. Because I would feel bad if I was not taking time to do it	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
17. It is not clear to me anymore; I don't really think my place is in sport	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
18. For the pleasure of discovering new performance strategies	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
19. For the material and/or social benefits of being an athlete	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
20. Because training hard will improve my performance	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
21. Because participation in my sport is an integral part of my life	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
22. I don't seem to be enjoying my sport as much as I previously did	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
23. Because I must do sports regularly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
24. To show others how good I am at my sport	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

DIRECTIONS: Give your reaction to the following statements in regards how you usually or generally feel about the sport you participate in as the athlete. You are asked to rank your reaction by indicating:

TEOSQ

Strongly Disagree			1
Disagree	2		
Neutral	3		
Agree 4			
Strongly Agree		5	

I feel most successful in my sport when...

1. I'm the only one who can do the play or skill.	1 2 3 4 5
2. I learn a new skill and it makes me want to practice more.	1 2 3 4 5
3. I can do better than my friends.	1 2 3 4 5
4. The others can't do as well as me.	1 2 3 4 5
5. I learn something that is fun to do.	1 2 3 4 5
6. Others mess up and I don't.	1 2 3 4 5
7. I learn a new skill by trying hard.	1 2 3 4 5
8. I work really hard.	1 2 3 4 5
9. I score the most points/goals/hits, etc.	1 2 3 4 5
10. Something I learn makes me want to go and practice more.	1 2 3 4 5
11. I'm the best.	1 2 3 4 5
12. A skill I learn really feels right.	1 2 3 4 5
13. I do my very best.	1 2 3 4 5

DIRECTIONS: For each of the following statements, please indicate how true it is for you, using the following scale:

IMI-PC

Not at all true 1-2

Somewhat true 3-5

Very true 6-7

1. I think I am pretty good at this sport.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
2. I think I do pretty well at this sport, compared to other students.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
3. After working at this sport for a while, I feel pretty confident.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
4. I am satisfied with my performance in this sport.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
5. I am pretty skilled at this sport.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
6. This is a sport that I could not do very well.	1 2 3 4 5 6 7

DIRECTIONS: Use the 5 point scale to rate the importance of statements below.

Self-theory questionnaire

- Disagree 2
- Disagree a little 3

Agree a little 4

Agree 5

Strongly Agree 6

How do you feel about ...

1. No matter how much skill you have, you can	1 2 3 4 5 6
always change a good deal	
2. You can learn new things, but you cannot really change	1 2 3 4 5 6
your basic level of skill	
3. I like my sport best when it challenges me	1 2 3 4 5 6
4. I like my sport best when I can do it really well without	1 2 3 4 5 6
too much trouble	
5. I like sport that I'll learn from even if I make a lot of	1 2 3 4 5 6
mistakes	
6. I like my sport best when I can do it perfectly without	1 2 3 4 5 6
any mistakes	
7. When something is hard, it just makes me want to work	1 2 3 4 5 6
more on it, not less	
8. To tell the truth, when I work hard, it makes me feel as	1 2 3 4 5 6
though I'm not very skilled	

8.3: Appendix C

Dear Siya,

Re: letter of permission.

I am writing to you regarding my masters research project in Psychology. I hereby request permission to conduct a research project with Rhodes University students. The aim of this research is to investigate the relationships that exist between goal orientations, mind sets and competence on the motivation to participate in sports amongst Rhodes University students. The research will also look to uncover whether any of these factors influence students, decisions to participate in sports at Rhodes University. I would like to distribute questionnaires to between 250-350 students across various sporting codes including rugby, hockey, soccer, rowing, cricket as well as potentially others in the hope of obtaining a sample of 150-250 students. These questionnaires would take no more than 40 minutes and the participants, identity will remain strictly confidential throughout the process of data collection and analysis.

In terms of recruiting participants, the researcher will gain access to respective sporting codes year by liaising with the head of sports and then the respective coaches.

Students that volunteer should be participating in sports at Rhodes University and registered as students at the University. Those students not registered as students at Rhodes will be excluded as their motivations may be different from an individual who is registered as a student.

I have obtained ethical clearance from RUPERC and HHDC. I would appreciate your permission to carry this research. Many thanks.

Best regards,

Marcus Nel